

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

Examination of Strategies to Implementing Chip-and-Personal Identification Number Credit Card Authentication Infrastructures

Neville Arthur Gallimore *Walden University*

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Databases and Information Systems Commons, and the Library and Information Science Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Neville Gallimore

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Bob Duhainy, Committee Chairperson, Information Technology Faculty Dr. Osama Morad, Committee Member, Information Technology Faculty Dr. Cheryl Waters, University Reviewer, Information Technology Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2022

Abstract

Examination of Strategies to Implementing Chip-and-Personal Identification Number Credit Card Authentication Infrastructures

by

Neville A. Gallimore

MS, University of Phoenix, 2014

BS, University of Phoenix, 2011

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Information Technology

Walden University

March 2022

Abstract

Chip-and-Personal Identification Number (PIN) technology is seen as a game changer in many e-commerce industries and a transformational technology in the 21st century. However, security concerns have made chip-and-PIN adoption relatively slow. Massive unauthorized card payment transactions in the United States (U.S.) cost victims an estimate totaling billions of dollars. Information Technology (IT) managers are concerned with credit card fraud's financial loss and liability cost. Grounded in Rogers's diffusion of innovation theory, the purpose of this qualitative pragmatic study was to explore strategies used by IT managers to transition their e-commerce organizations to chip-and-PIN credit card authentication infrastructures. The participants were six IT managers from companies in the U.S. with experience implementing chip-and-PIN infrastructure securely. Data were collected using semistructured interviews, statistics provided by their organizations, and publicly available data. A thematic analysis revealed 3 major emerging themes: (a) elements influencing the selection of strategy, (b) payment card industry data security standards regulatory compliance, and (c) value to the business and customer experience. A key recommendation is for business leaders to mitigate the risk of credit card fraud by implementing payment card industry data security standards. The implications for positive social change include the potential to inform consumers and business owners, secure electronic funds transactions, instill trust in e-commerce payment systems, and reduce instances of credit card fraud and crimes.

Examination of Strategies to Implementing Chip-and-Personal Identification Number

Credit Card Authentication Infrastructures

by

Neville A. Gallimore

MS, University of Phoenix, 2014

BS, University of Phoenix, 2011

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Information Technology

Walden University

March 2022

Dedication

I dedicate this doctoral study to my wife, partner, and best friend, Brigitta "Louise," who has been supporting me on this journey since day one. Thank you for being there with me to cheer me on, motivate me, and keep me grounded during all these times. Although it was not always convenient for you, thank you for your unconditional sacrifices, allowing me the time and space to complete this study. I could never have made it this far in this endeavor without you. I would also like to dedicate this to my mother and father who, early in my life, instilled in me the need to value, seek, and complete education. I would also like to acknowledge the deep respect and admiration for all of my immediate family members; Carolyn, Timothy, George, David, Molly, Joseph, and their spouses that provided me guidance, love, and leadership throughout my entire lifetime. Finally, I want to acknowledge my sons, Daniel and Neville Jr., for being who they are, great young men. I cannot forget acknowledging my nieces and nephews, hoping to be an inspiration to them as they have been for me. Thank you all.

Acknowledgments

It is with joy and a thankful heart that I express my deep gratitude and appreciation to my Committee Chairperson, Dr. Robert Duhainy. I thank you for your exceptional guidance, mentorship, leadership, and personal investment into my cause. I would like to thank Dr. Richmond Adebiaye, Dr. Gary Griffith, and Dr. Osama Morad, who served as my second committee members. I would like to thank Dr. Gail Miles and Dr. Steven Case who both served as my URR and DIT Program Director and supported my efforts along the way. Dr. Miles is a true steward in delivering higher level education in the DIT program and championed my efforts to continue and finish the program. I would like to express a very special thank you to Dr. Timothy Gallimore for his mentorship and strategic guidance throughout this whole doctoral study mission. He was very instrumental in me selecting the DIT program, and continually followed up on my progress and motivated me to endure.

List of Tables iv
List of Figuresv
Section 1: Foundation of the Study1
Background of the Problem1
Problem Statement
Purpose Statement
Nature of the Study2
Research Question4
Theoretical or Conceptual Framework4
Definition of Terms5
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations7
Assumptions7
Limitations7
Delimitations
Significance of the Study8
Contribution to IT Practice
Implications for Social Change9
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature10
Application to the Applied IT Problem11
Chip-and-PIN Smart Card Technology17
Diffusion of Innovation Theory, Core Elements

Table of Contents

Previous Research and Findings	32
Transition and Summary	41
Section 2: The Project	43
Purpose Statement	43
Role of the Researcher	43
Participants	47
Research Method and Design	50
Method	50
Research Design	53
Population and Sampling	56
Ethical Research	59
Data Collection	62
Instruments	62
Data Collection Technique	65
Data Organization Techniques	69
Data Analysis Technique	71
Reliability and Validity	74
Dependability	75
Creditability	76
Transferability	76
Confirmability	77
Transition and Summary	79

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	80
Overview of Study	80
Presentation of Findings	81
Theme 1: Elements Influencing the Appropriate Selection of Strategy	81
Theme 2: Implement PCI DSS Regulatory Compliance	87
Theme 3: Value to the Business and Customer Experience	91
Application of Professional Practice	97
Implication for Social Change	99
Recommendations For Action	100
Recommendation for Further Research	101
Reflections	102
Conclusion	103
References	105
Appendix A: Interview Guide	142
Interview/Survey Questions	142
Appendix B: NIH Certification for Protecting Human Research Participants	143
Appendix C: Protocol and Interview Protocol Refinement (IPR) Processes	144
Appendix D: Copyright Permission for Graphics	145

List of Tables

Table 1. Summary of Literature Review	11
Table 2. Thematic Analysis Process	73
Table 3. Frequency of First Major Themes: Elements Influencing the Appropriate	
Selection of Strategy	83
Table 4. Frequency of Second Major Themes: Implement PCI DSS Regulatory	
Compliance	89
Table 5. Frequency of Third Major Themes: Value to the Business and Customer	
Experience	93

List of Figures

Figure 1. Statistics of EMV Transactions.	. 13
Figure 2. Statistics of EMV Chip Card Deployment and Adoption	. 14
Figure 3. Graphic Illustration of Innovation Diffusion Theory Model	. 21
Figure 4. Graphic Illustration of Innovation-Decision Process Model	. 22

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

The purpose of this qualitative study was to explore strategies used by information technology (IT) managers to transition their e-commerce organizations to chip-and-personal identification number (PIN) credit card authentication infrastructures.

Background of the Problem

IT managers are challenged to provide the most secure computing environments for their users, both internal and external. Protecting their organization's customers from credit card fraud and stolen personal identifiable information (PII) are mandated compliancy requirements. With limited implementation of chip-and-PIN credit card authentication systems within the United States, the findings from this study can be used to inform all stakeholders on the benefits and capabilities of implementing chip-and-PIN credit card authentication infrastructures.

Problem Statement

According to the 2013 Federal Reserved Payments Study, the estimated number of unauthorized card payment transactions in 2012 was 29.5 million, with a total loss estimated at \$3.9 billion (Gerdes et al., 2013). The U.S. Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice Statistics, National Criminal Justice found approximately 66% of credit card fraud victims experienced a financial loss (Harrell, 2015). The general IT problem was the lack of chip-and-PIN credit cards and point-of-sales (POS) enabled terminals in the United States. The specific IT problem was that some IT managers lack strategies to transition their e-commerce organizations to chip-and-PIN credit card authentication infrastructures.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative pragmatic study was to explore strategies used by IT managers to transition their e-commerce organizations to chip-and-PIN credit card authentication infrastructures. The targeted population was IT managers in e-commerce organizations, located in the United States, who had strategies to transition their organizations to a chip-and-PIN credit card authentication infrastructure. In the findings of the study, I identified strategies that other IT managers can apply to efficiently transition their e-commerce organizations to a chip-and-PIN credit card authentication platform. The implications for positive social change include increased security of credit card transactions and protection of consumer's PII, reducing fraud in the global ecommerce market and financial crimes committed within society.

Nature of the Study

I selected a qualitative approach as the most appropriate means to explore strategies used by IT managers to transition their organizations to chip-and-PIN credit card authentication infrastructures. A qualitative methodology allows the researcher to gain information on the participant's experience and interpretations of the phenomenon, using techniques like field notes, participant observation, and open-ended questions (Leppaaho et al., 2016). A quantitative methodology can reveal statistical information and test hypotheses of the past and current phenomenon (Frels & Onwuegbuzie, 2013). The goal of this study was not to measure variables, prove a hypothesis, or compare the statistical outcomes of each organization's strategy. A mixed-methods approach is a methodology with which a researcher uses the data sets and statistical results from a quantitative method combined with aspects of the qualitative method to further interpret the reason of a phenomenon (Mauceri, 2014). I did not have a hypothesis in this study; therefore, neither the quantitative method nor the mixed-methods approach was appropriate for this study.

I used a pragmatic inquiry design to explore the strategies used by organizations' IT managers to transition their organizations to chip-and-PIN credit card authentication infrastructures. Conducting a pragmatic study is an effective design to investigate a contemporary phenomenon using participants in real-world environments (Patton, 2015; Salkind, 2010). Using a pragmatic inquiry design allowed me to develop in-depth insight into each organization's experience, transition strategy, and strategic perspective from their IT managers.

When selecting the most suitable study design for this study, I considered ethnographic and phenomenological designs as possible alternatives to a pragmatic study. An ethnographic design is used to capture and compare organizational cultural influences, behaviors, and experiences of participants within a group during their lived experience of the phenomenon (Jarzabkowski et al., 2014). In a phenomenological study, the researcher collects data from multiple, in-depth interviews with participants who have already experienced the phenomenon (Gill, 2014). Based on the need to research multiple organizations and their strategies during their transition, I determined that the phenomenological and ethnographic designs would not be as effective in exploring indepth the strategies and transition events as shared by the IT managers who experienced their organizations' transition to chip-and-PIN credit card authentication infrastructures. Therefore, the ethnographic and phenomenological designs were not selected.

Research Question

This study was guided by the following research question: What strategies are used by IT managers to transition their organizations to chip-and-PIN credit card authentication infrastructures? Appendix B contains a list of interview questions, which I asked to explore more detailed elements of the main research question.

Theoretical or Conceptual Framework

In 1962, Rogers first framed the innovation diffusion theory (IDT), which is a model used to define how new ideas are disseminated among people in society (Shaw et al., 2022). Innovation defines the new ideas, and diffusion is a method of communicating new ideas to people in a social system (Scott & McGuire, 2017).

Decades later, Rogers (2003) refined, popularized, and documented the diffusion of innovation (DOI) theory, explaining how innovation is communicated in a social system. I used the DOI theory as the theoretical framework for this qualitative pragmatic study. Innovation diffusion is an effective research concept used in the decision-making process for emerging information technology (EIT; Cegielski et al., 2013). The innovation-decision process consists of five main levels: knowledge, persuasion, decision, implementation, and confirmation. Cegielski et al. (2013) stated that EITs represent an avenue for enhancing the effective and efficient flow and utilization of information within the organization to support business objectives and, ultimately, firm performance. Drnevich and Croson (2013) found that without an alignment of business and IT strategies, a business will not be effective. Green (2014) found that performing and evaluating qualitative information systems (ISs) research is best conducted using a methodological framework.

In this research study, I applied the constructs of the innovation-decision process to gather real-world input and open feedback from IT managers. The persuasion and implementation phases of the innovation-decision process were the main themes within the study. Given the vast list of organizations required to do a full phenomenological study on authentication technologies affecting the global market, census sampling was the best alternative to conducting the inquiry of stakeholders necessary to answer the research question in this study. Based on the limited international knowledge of the organizations taking part in the research study, Ahmad (2014) gathered and triangulated information from both interviewing sessions and experiential knowledge. Census sampling enables researchers to gather adequate experiential knowledge and information to complete their study without conducting an exhaustive and prolong inquiry process of all organizations. Focusing the questions on the main phases of the DOI theoretical framework ensured sampling data saturation on the main themes of the research study (see Baldwin & Fellingham, 2013).

Definition of Terms

Chief information security officer (CISO): The corporate-level person responsible for the security of their organization's computing environment (Souppaya & Scarfone, 2013).

Chip-and-PIN: Smart card technology with an embedded chip on the credit card read by a card reader and requires the input of a PIN to complete a transaction (Figliola, 2015).

EIT: Emergent IT that organizations may or may not adopt (Cegielski et al., 2013).

EuroPay, Mastercard, and Visa (EMV): The original instance and standard of chip-and-PIN technology for electronic transaction payments. Chip cards are formally known as EMV cards, named for the coalition of three companies: Europay, MasterCard, and Visa (Figliola, 2015).

IDT: A model used to define how new ideas are disseminated among people in society (Cadarette et al., 2016).

Interview protocol refinement (IPR) process: The process used to efficiently collect, record, and document information from participant interviews (Castillo-Montoya, 2016).

POS terminal: The equipment used to execute the exchange of funds during a sale of goods and services (Abubakar & Ahmad, 2013).

Technology acceptance model (TAM): A method to measure user's acceptance of technology. TAM is often used to analyze data and information collected for quantitative and mixed method studies (Tan et al., 2014).

Thematic analysis (TA) process: A method for identifying and analyzing patterns in qualitative data (Clarke & Braun, 2013).

Unified theory of acceptance and use of technology (UTAUT): A widely used theory to evaluate end-user 's adaption to innovation and information system changes (Chang et al., 2016).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

To establish the baseline and communicate essential ideas of the study, past and current factors pertinent to the topic are defined as assumptions within the study (Kirkwood & Price, 2013). My first assumption was that a current review of available literature indicated a need for further exploration in the body of knowledge and strategies for implementing chip-and-PIN authentication technology within the United States. Another assumption was that the organization's IT manager plays a key role in bringing resources, stakeholders, and technologies together to deliver the appropriate security measures and authentication infrastructure. My last assumption was that successful implementation of chip-and-PIN POS terminal authentication technology within the United States will reduce the security risks associated with conducting e-commerce payment transactions with credit cards.

Limitations

Limitations are the expect shortcomings of capabilities within a study to provide a total solution to the entirety of the problem or phenomenon (Brutus et al., 2013). The first limitation was based on the variety of organizational structures and e-commerce hardware infrastructure utilized in the United States. Therefore, the study could not fully inform, cover, and provide a strategic solution for every type of credit card POS terminal infrastructure. The next limitation was the fact that online e-commerce purchases do not require the credit card to be present, limiting the effectiveness of studying the use of chipand-PIN authentication technologies as it relates to an online website and online ecommerce purchases. The final limitation was that the findings of the study may not include strategies that are suitable and applicable to all organizations.

Delimitations

Delimitations define the parameters and scope of a study (Podsakoff et al., 2016). To present an effective, comprehensive, and informative qualitative pragmatic study, I applied three main delimitations. The first delimitation was the established size of the population of the participants in the study. To focus on specific planning and implementation strategies, the interview participants were IT managers in the retail industry. The second delimitation was that the interviews were conducted using participants located in the United States. The final delimitation was the fact that large, internet-only, web stores were not evaluated in this study.

Significance of the Study

Contribution to IT Practice

IT managers are challenged to provide the most secure computing environments for their users, both internal and external. Protecting their business' customers from credit card fraud and stolen PII are mandated compliancy requirements. With limited implementation of chip-and-PIN credit card authentication systems within the United States, the findings from this study may inform all stakeholders on the benefits and capabilities of chip-and-PIN credit card transactions. The results of this study may also provide an informative set of findings to fill the IT knowledge gap for consumers, managers, and security professionals required to implement and maintain chip-and-PIN credit card authentication infrastructures in the banking and consumer-facing economic industries. The findings of this study may provide strategies used to improve the efficiency of the processes currently in place to implement credit card chip-and-PIN authentication technology. In addition, the study results can be used as an IT strategic template to efficiently transition other nations to the same credit card authentication platform, securing both consumers utilizing credit cards and vendors providing services within the global e-commerce market.

Implications for Social Change

The results of this study may contribute to positive social change through potentially being used to help protect businesses and consumers from credit card fraud. Consumers using chipped credit cards may reduce the risks of credit card fraud and financial liability to merchants, resulting in lower administrative costs and fees levied against all stakeholders in the e-commerce process (Robertson, 2014). The findings of this study might help to inform individuals about the current status of the IT innovation processes of chip-and-PIN credit card authentication. These individuals might use their increased IT knowledge to communicate, demand, and insist that businesses and their business partners increase credit card security with chip-and-PIN authentication infrastructures. Paying for services with the more secured chip-and-PIN credit cards may be safer when conducting business with local and international service providers. Once the chip-and-PIN credit cards authentication infrastructures are implemented throughout all financial and business institution globally, individuals traveling worldwide would have easier and safer access to their buying power, reducing their risks of potential credit card fraud. Informed credit card users, their vendors, and banking institutions may be on a more secured e-commerce security platform, reducing the number of identity theft crimes committed. Additionally, the study results can be used as a strategic template to help efficiently transition other nations to the same credit card authentication platform, securing both consumers utilizing credit cards and vendors providing services within the global e-commerce market. Securing the electronic exchange of funds by using chip-and-PIN authentication technology can reduce the amount of credit card fraud and number of crimes committed.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

In this literature review subsection, I present and review historical information and empirical data related to the topic of the study. Additional research and the collection of literature was conducted to support the methodology and conceptual framework used to guide this study. I conclude this section with a final summary of literature research and findings.

The literature review is organized in three main categories: scholarly, peerreviewed; non-peer-reviewed; and scholarly seminal literature. I present the literature in the following order: a review of the current IT status, IT problem, methods to design and develop the study, and methods to collect and validate the data from participants of the study. The majority of literature was selected from academic and professional organization databases, including ProQuest, Sage, Thoreau, and Science Direct. The first phase of the review was to collect the appropriate data to confirm the need of the study topic and the specific IT problem. A thorough search in online library databases and government-sponsored statistical sites provided exemplary supporting information to support the study. I conducted further review of the literature to establish the conceptual frameworks and models that were used to support the foundation of the study. Extensive research was conducted on how innovation diffusion is an effective research concept used in the decision-making process for EIT. It was important to ensure 85% of the total supporting literature sources address current IT technology issues and have a publication date of less than 5 years ago. The selected peer-reviewed studies, papers, and journal articles support established facts, proven theories, and known limitations to the topic under study. The percentages and statuses related to the literature reviewed are listed in Table 1.

Table 1

Summary of Literature Review

Total	Published less than 5 years ago	Published more than 5 years ago
78	70	8
13	10	3
3	0	3
	Total 78 13 3	TotalPublished less than 5 years ago7870131030

Application to the Applied IT Problem

The purpose of this qualitative pragmatic study was to explore strategies used by IT managers to transition their e-commerce organizations to chip-and-PIN credit card authentication infrastructures. In the literature review, I addressed the specific IT problem and strategies applied to implement chip-and-PIN credit card and POS authentication infrastructures. The first portion of the literature review includes a description of the impact of the IT problem and importance of having a concerted strategy to address the problem. In the second area of the subsection, I discuss the IDT conceptual framework and the application of IDT constructs to the IT problem. In addition, literature outlining previous IDT research and findings are presented. In the closing subsection, I summarize the literature review, emphasizing the application to the IT problem and need for further research study.

According to the 2013 Federal Reserved Payments Study, the estimated number of unauthorized card payment transactions in 2012 was 29.5 million, with a total loss estimated at \$3.9 billion (Gerdes et al., 2013). The U.S. Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice Statistics, National Criminal Justice found approximately 66% of credit card fraud victims experienced a financial loss (Harrell, 2015). The main theme and phenomena under study was the lack of chip-and-PIN credit cards and POS-enabled terminals in the United States. A federal and financial institution compliance mandate required organizations to implement the more secure chip-and-PIN capability by fall of 2015; however, some retailers have not fully converted to the full implementation, forcing customers to use the older magnetic strip methods to authenticate their purchases (Bush, 2016). The two-factor authentication process, using chip-enabled terminals with a secret PIN, provides a more secure electronic payment transaction.

Despite the increase in issuing of chip-and-PIN credit cards by the banking institution, some merchants are still not capable of providing chip-enabled authentication infrastructures (Bush, 2016). Some merchants have upgraded POS terminals; however, their networks are not enabled or certified to accept chipped cards. Recent banking statistics indicate an increase in U.S, EMV payment transactions, but minimal in comparison to other continents and nations, such as Europe, Africa, Asia, Canada, Latin America, and Caribbean (EMVCO.com, 2016; Milker, 2007; Shepard, 2016; Wakamori & Welte, 2017). Figures 1 and 2 show the comparison with other continents.

Figure 1

Statistics of EMV Transactions



Figures represent the percentage of all card-present transactions processed by each member institution that are EMV transactions (Contact or Contactless). The reported data (blue bar) is from the twelve months of January 2014 through December 2014 and (green bar) the twelve months of January 2015 through December 20145; the data represents the most accurate possible data that could be obtained by American Express, Discover, JCB, MasterCard, UnionPay, and Visa during this period. To qualify as an "EMV transaction" for the purpose of this methodology, both the card and terminal used during a transaction must be EMV-enabled. Data is reported from the acquirer perspective. These figures do not include offline transactions, 'on us' transactions (defined as a transaction handled exclusively by another processor), and/or transactions processed by non-EMVCo-member institutions, such as local schemes.

Note. Adapted from "MasterCard Reports Strong US EMV Uptake. 2016. EMV CHIP Deployment statistics," by R. Boden, 2016 (<u>http://www.NFCworld.com</u>). Copyright 2016 by Taylor & Francis LLC. Reprint with permission.

Figure 2

Statistics of EMV Chip Card Deployment and Adoption

	2013		2014		2015	
Region	EMV Cards	Adoption Rate	EMV Cards	Adoption Rate	EMV Cards	Adoption Rate
Canada, Latin America, and the Carribbean	471M	54.2%	544M	59.5%	680M	71.7%
Asia Pacific	942M	17.4%	1,676M	25.4%	2,459M	32.7%
Africa & the Middle East	77M	38.9%	116M	50.5%	160M	61.2%
Europe Zone 1	794M	81.6%	833M	83.5%	881M	84.3%
Europe Zone 2	84M	24.4%	153M	40.4%	200M	52.3%
United States	-	-	101M	7.3%	394M	26.4%

Worldwide EMV Chip Card Deployment and Adoption*

*Figures reported in Q4 of 2013, 2014, and 2015, respectively, and represent the latest statistics from American Express, Discover, JCB, MasterCard, Union-Pay, and Visa, as reported by their member institutions globally.

Note. Adapted from "MasterCard Reports Strong US EMV Uptake. 2016. EMV CHIP Deployment Statistics," by R. Boden, 2016 (<u>http://www.NFCworld.com</u>). Copyright 2016 by Taylor & Francis LLC. Reprint with permission.

Data collected by MasterCard indicated a 105% increase in chip-and-PIN card usage since the October 1, 2015 transition of liability to merchant's deadline (Shepard, 2016). Even with the risks of liability for fraud and abuse of noncompliance credit cards, the 2 million merchants using chip-and-PIN enabled networks account for only 33% of U.S. merchants using chip-and-PIN card technology (Boden, 2016). According to Peter Larkin, President and CEO of the National Grocers Association,

None of these delays are the fault of merchants, yet it's the merchant who is

facing an onslaught in new chargebacks as well as confusion among consumers

who don't understand why they can't use their chip cards at their local

supermarket. (Karolefsk, 2016, p. 1).

Implementation of chip-and-PIN card technology in U.S. e-commerce markets is lagging behind the expectations of the payment card industry standards.

The comparisons between the U.S. credit card industry and other nations shows a great deficit and limited progress in improvements in U.S. credit card authentication technology infrastructure and protection of customer privacy (Boden, 2016; Wakamori & Welte, 2017). Credit card transactions using chip-and-PIN reduces security risks because EMV transactions at chip POS terminals provide more security of consumers' personal data than magnetic strip POS transactions (Foxworth, 2015). Rockwell (2013) argued that payment cards are often targets of fraud schemes that victimize the issuing financial institution and individual cardholders. The physical characteristics of payment credit cards can determine the ease at which they can be compromised, and typical counterfeiting methods were linked to counterfeit payment cards (Rockwell, 2013). Credit card fraud is mostly associated with credit cards equipped with only magnetic strip authentication features that are not capable of the chip-and PIN process at POS terminals (Cepeda et al., 2015). The findings from these studies show and support the need to implement the transition from magnetic strip authentication to the chip-and-PIN process.

With the growth in debit and credit cards as the main method of paying for services and products, there is a need for improved security of the card-based authentication system. Organizations must implement their IT solutions and innovation in an ethical manner (Kernaghan, 2014). Vendors are obligated to protect the customer's privacy rights under the Fair and Accurate Credit Transactions Act (Cepeda et al., 2015). User's acceptance of the new technology is critical for the successful implementation of the chip-and-PIN authentication systems. The usage of credit cards is aligned with consumer confidences in the protection of their data and privacy (Arief & Adzmi, 2015). Customers will discontinue the use of credit cards at POS terminals if they believe the systems are unsecure. Implementing and educating customers on the increased security of the chip-and-PIN authentication systems will provide them with the confidence needed to continue using the convenience of credit cards.

Current trends for protecting access to computing environments include multifactor authentication. Two-factor authentication is a proven method used to ensure the right individuals and only that user can access data, providing confidentially (Choi & Park, 2015). Secure authentication is accomplished when a user must use two different identity factors to complete the authentication process (Kaur & Pathak, 2015). Combining biometrics technology as one element in the two-factor authentication process increases the security capability and complexity; biometric authentication includes the use of fingerprints, iris scans, face, and voice recognition (Martinovic et al., 2017). Multiple researchers have validated the advancement in the use of biometrics as a means for user authentication, with the possibility to use data representation modules within multimodal biometric systems to take advantage of facial recognition (Choi & Park, 2015; Martinovic et al., 2017; Moon et al., 2015). Payment card industry (PCI) systems can benefit from the dual usage of biometric systems for both data collection and user authentication (Choi & Park, 2015). The implementation of two-factor authentication methods demonstrates the potential effectiveness of using biometrics as a method of increasing security beyond smart card authentication.

Chip-and-PIN Smart Card Technology

Chip-and-PIN enabled credit card technology is an effective method of implementing two-factor authentication (Smith et al., 2018). The leading system for smart card-based payments worldwide, EMV, is widely deployed in Europe and is starting to be introduced in the United States as well (Bond et al., 2015). Chip-and-PIN enabled credit card technology is the foundational method used in e-commerce, twofactor authentication. The chip-and-PIN authentication process requires certified hardware and software systems to take full advantage of the more secure electronic fund transfer authentication method (Fourar-Laidi, 2013; PCI DSS, 2018).

Organizations are implementing various infrastructures that allow them to have secure e-business transactions. Bond et al. (2015) found that despite this wide deployment, a series of significant vulnerabilities make EMV vulnerable to the replay attack. Implementing changes to security specific protocols within the security authentication process and introducing a new authentication scheme will increase the strength of smart card authentication (Jiang et al., 2015). A framework-based solution can use smart cards to store keys and perform cryptographic algorithms, allowing ecommerce partners to realize secure transactions (Fourar-Laidi, 2013). Shin et al. (2013) expanded on the ideas of emerging capabilities in the dual-chip contactless card. There is the ability to overcome the insecure credit card transaction by using biometrics to activate the smart card technology. Elements and principles used in the listed technology can provide benefits for all stakeholders and support strategies in gaining IT investment funding support from C-level officers (Shin et al., 2013). Fully communicating the risk of conducting insecure electronic fund transfers to both customers and vendors will support the organization's business needs statement and potential benefits to their profits.

The use of business intelligence is improving the effectiveness of companies in understanding their customers' requirements and increases the return on investment of their business initiatives (Ogiela & Ogiela, 2014). Converting the raw data collected from customers into business intelligence requires organizations to collect sensitive and confidential information from their customers (Soilen, 2016). Banks use their customer databases and analytics tools to craft highly sophisticated pictures of their customers' and prospects' values, profitability, and credit risks and then bombard them with 2 billion credit card solicitations every year (Peppers & Rogers, 2013). Credit card information and consumer usage habits are maintained in databases, presenting increased risks to customer privacy (West & Bhattacharya, 2016). Organizations must have a comprehensive strategy for implementing secure credit card transaction authentication and protection solutions.

IT managers are responsible for providing the most secure computing environments for their organization's users, both internal and external. With limited implementation of chip-and-PIN credit card authentication systems within the United States, protecting customers from credit card fraud, privacy, and stolen PII requires a viable IT strategy that compliments the organization's business strategy. Drnevich and Croson (2013) found that without an alignment between business and IT strategies, a business will not be effective. The relationships and confidence between the CEO, CIO, and IT managers are essential elements to ensure IT solutions contribute to the overall strategy of the organization. Supporting the CEO's strategies with IS contributions is a key factor in successful organizations (Johnson & Lederer, 2013). Well-developed IT strategies and investments increase the performance of an organization (Mithas & Rust, 2016). The IT manager plays a key role in developing and executing the IT investments to secure their IT infrastructures and gain stakeholder buy-in for new systems.

Data and financial data security are a significant concern in business and in IS education from both a technological and a strategic standpoint. The establishment and requirements of the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard (PCI DSS), and the associated consequences for noncompliance, represents a business-like approach to the organizational protection of data (Willey & White, 2013). PII, electronic health records, and financial data are prime targets for hackers seeking means to compromise the privacy of individuals. Performing and evaluating qualitative IS research is best conducted using a proven methodological framework (Antonenko, 2015; Green, 2014). Advancing an organization's business model to e-commerce requires a well-developed strategic plan and framework (Kaptein & Parvinen, 2015). The environmental concern must be considered to develop the appropriate framework and explore the factors needed to successfully evaluate the phenomenon. In some instances, a combination of multiple frameworks may be required to accurately measure the acceptance of innovation and the concerns of the environmental culture (Ho et al., 2015). Organizations must identify and use a comprehensive framework to accomplish their chip and PIN credit card authentication implementation strategy.

Diffusion of Innovation Theory, Core Elements

In 1962, Rogers framed the IDT. The IDT is a model used to define how innovative ideas are disseminated among people in society. The core elements of the IDT are awareness, persuasion, decision, implementation, and confirmation. The innovation diffusion theory model is depicted in Figure 3. Innovation defines the introduction of a new idea. Diffusion is an effective method to introduce new ideas to people in a social network (Dutta & Omolayole, 2016). The IDT provides tools to determine the factors, uncertainty, resistance, and rate of diffusion of a technology (Zsifkovits & Gunther, 2015). For a better understanding of the phenomena and ability to confer the themes to the reader, creating visual models and mapping is very effective means to demonstrate the point (Antonenko, 2015). The innovation diffusion framework will be an excellent means to evaluate, study, report findings, and make recommendations for future research.

In 2003, Rogers refined, popularized, and documented the DOI, explaining how innovation is communicated in a social system. The diffusion of innovation theoretical framework will be used to conduct this qualitative pragmatic study. The IDT model is depicted in Figure 3.

Figure 3

Graphic Illustration of Innovation Diffusion Theory Model



Note. Adapted from *Diffusion of Innovations* (5th ed.) by E. Rogers, 2003, Free Press. Copyright 2003 by Free Press.

Innovation diffusion is an effective research concept, used in the decision-making process for EIT (Cegielski et al., 2013). The innovation-decision process consists of five main levels: knowledge, persuasion, decision, implementation, and confirmation.

- 1. Knowledge: The process of learning about the innovation or the phenomenon.
- 2. Persuasion: The time in the process where personal feelings and value judgements are made to form a final perception on the innovation.
- 3. Decision: The actual process of communicating a final stand on which to act on the innovation.
- 4. Implementation: The process of using the innovation.
- 5. Confirmation: The process is used to evaluate the decision and results of the implementation, for the validity of the innovation.

The innovation-decision process model is depicted in Figure 4.

Figure 4

Graphic Illustration of Innovation-Decision Process Model



Note. Adapted from "Evaluating Adoption of Emerging IT for Corporate IT Strategy: Developing a Model Using a Qualitative Method," by C. G. Cegielski, D. M. Bourrie, & B. T. Hazen, 2013, *Information Systems Management*, 235-249. Copyright 2013 by Taylor & Francis LLC. Reprint with permission.

Without an established framework, it is difficult to adequately define the concepts and themes of the study (Antonenko, 2015). Cegielski et al. (2013) EITs represent an avenue for enhancing the effective and efficient flow and utilization of information within the organization to support business objectives and, ultimately, firm performance. This research study applied the constructs of the innovation-decision process, to gather and analyze input and open feedback from IT managers. Innovation stems from knowledge recombination of prior discoveries and applications, the individual capacity to search for knowledge over both familiar and unfamiliar technological domains is also likely shaping fundamental processes in creativity, problem-solving, and innovation within organizations (Van Knippenberg et al., 2015). Caiazza and Volpe (2017) used the innovation diffusion process to study the adaptation of precision farming technologies. Zhang et al., (2017) emphasize the importance each stakeholder and their efforts to bring about IT innovation acceptance within their organization. Successful IT solutions depend on the effective implementation of a strategic framework such as the innovation diffusion processes, between stakeholders and their customers. The phases of the innovation diffusion process assist in identifying roles; innovator, adopters and, intermediaries essential to applying the technology (Caiazza & Volpe, 2017). Using the innovation diffusion process, I was able to identify the key implementation players and stakeholders in a successful implementation of chip and PIN technology.

The decision, implementation, and confirmation phases of the innovation-decision process were the three main themes within my doctoral study. These three phases were selected based on their alignment with the strategic critically of getting stakeholders buyin and witnessing the success of end-user usage of the strategy. The decision phase addresses the need to convince the organization leadership to adapt the technology and communicate the security advantages to consumers. Leaders, within an organization, are critical to creating the culture for change and be enablers for innovation (Camps & Molina, 2014). The implementation and confirmation phases covered the banking industry issuing of chipped credit cards, POS hardware installation, software certification, and customers successfully completing PIN and chip transactions. Denning and Dew (2015) found that 90% of innovation is in fostering adoption. Organizations are often slow to adapt new innovations, based on perceived risks and cultural attitude towards change (Martins et al., 2014). Adopting change requires the ability to listen for concerns, histories, movements of social power, barriers, moods, reactions to offers, and followers in networks (Denning & Dew, 2015). In the decision phase, the IT manager must have a strategy which can convince stakeholders within his organization to adapt the new IT innovation.

Cost savings is one of the most popular factor in the means of persuading organizations to adapting new information technology. Franceschinis et al. (2017) evaluated the coherence of the underlying preference structure using as criteria psychological constructs from the theory of diffusion of innovation. Using the theory of diffusion of innovation was a means to validate the theory by providing evidence of segmentation of the population consistent with the individuals' propensity to adopt innovations (Franceschinis et al., 2017). Franceschinis et al. findings indicated that preferences for heating systems and respondents' willingness to pay for their key features vary across segments. "These results enabled us to generate maps that show how willingness to pay estimates vary across the region and can guide local policy design aimed at stimulating adoption of sustainable solutions" (Franceschinis et al., 2017, p. 314). Potential cost savings are very effective incentives to gain support and funding for new technology.

The medical industry benefits from the uses diffusion of innovation conceptual theory in research and implementation of new medical procedures and equipment. "Our
aim was to examine the speed (number of publications over time) and spread (across institutions) of each innovation and interpret uptake relative to innovation attributes, the social system, and communication channels" (Cadarette et al., 2016, p. 151). The Islamic community, often seen as a group which is slower to fully adopt technological innovations, provided a great opportunity to validate the effectiveness of the diffusion of innovation conceptual theory. Jamshidi and Hussin (2016) applied the innovation diffusion theory in their review of the adoption and understanding of credit card usage in the Islamic community. In the medical service industry and Islamic community, Jamshidi and Hussin's finding showed the alignment of customer satisfaction with services has a noticeable final impact on social influence.

Valente et al. (2015) incorporated the diffusion of innovation theory in their study to understand the level of efforts for diffusion of future information. Stages in the diffusion of innovation theory were effective in measuring the status of organizations and adopters within the innovation network. Valente et al. findings showed that online communication networks accelerated the ratification process. By using the data and analysis produced from the stages in the theory, the World Health Assembly can develop specific communication plans to spread the Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (FCTC) information about tobacco use and health safety.

The diffusion of innovation theory can be used to compliment other theories and framework within a study. In a study conducted by Nehme et al. (2016) the research measurement properties were designed to align the transtheoretical model (TTM) stages of changes with the diffusion of innovation theory stages. In comparison, the DOI staging approach was more effective than the TTM at classifying the readiness for adopting change (Nehme et al., 2016). One of the main findings was the advantage of using a theory-based construct from outside the normal methods to evaluate health behavior research (Nehme et al., 2016). The combined research analysis theories were successful in identifying the value which transportation bicycling provided towards preventing the risk of chronic diseases.

Given the popularity of the internet, networks, and infrastructures used to connect the global exchange of information on the internet is affected by the innovations of diffusion in technology as well. Chen and Li (2014) conducted a study to analyze the complex dynamics of technical upgrades in the innovation of diffusion process. Chen and Li introduced the concept of Diffusing Mode of Innovation in the study. The mode included several types of innovation: institutional innovation, innovation of management, and technical innovation. Technical innovation occurs quickly and is usually forced on to other industrial networks to keep up with the standard. According to Chen and Li industrial network is a scale-free network, it makes the diffusion of innovation on industrial network very easily, and each enterprise has different affection on the whole industry. Technical innovation diffusion is an enabler for other forms of innovation, as supporting innovation infrastructure and knowledge management innovation multiplier.

Another perspective of adoption of innovative technology is the difference between men and women, in regard to accepting new technology. Dutta and Omolayole (2016) conducted a study of the influence of gender on the accepting technology and innovation diffusion. Internet usage was technology measured in the study. The study's initial indications were that women prefer using information technology largely to satisfy their bonding and sharing nature whereas men prefer using information technology essentially as an enabling tool that enhances their abilities (Dutta & Omolayole, 2016). Despite minor differences between genders, the results indicate that acceptability to new information technologies are gender neutral (Dutta & Omolayole, 2016). The diffusion of innovation conceptual theory proved once again to provide valuable insight in quality research studies.

The diffusion of innovation conceptual theory has historically been applied to many different industries to understand their best strategies to implement new technology. Harvey (2016) used the innovation diffusion concepts in his research on the adaptation of the new 45 RPM single and 33 RPM album technology in the recording industry. The standardization of the 45 RPM single and 33 RPM albums in 1951 forced the recording industry to rethink their marketing strategies (Harvey, 2016). Findings from the study conclude that the industry tended toward sub optimal, risk-averse strategies, and that the LP likely succeeded despite record companies' efforts to control their products and messaging (Harvey, 2016). The diffusion of innovation conceptual theory was successfully used to gauge a major change in not just the recording industry, but to how it affected society as a whole.

Similar to the changes in the music recording industry, the travel industry transitioned from store front services agencies to more services being provide online. The travel communities and travel service agencies experienced a major change in the way consumers acquire travel process and arrangement. With more consumers making their own travel arrangements with online booking sites, Agag and El-Masry (2016) conducted a study using the IDT and TAM models to explore the behavior and intentions of customers to conduct their travel process online. Customers were more positive towards using online travel services than visiting a travel agency office. The findings indicated that users of the online travel community services were more likely to recommend the services to others (Agag & El-Masry, 2016).

Eastwood et al. (2017) used the diffusion of innovation conceptual theory process to study the adaptation of precision farming technologies. The primary purpose of the study was to examine the interaction and distribution of research and extension roles of public, private, and agricultural industry organizations in precision farming innovation systems. A timeline analysis method, underpinned by a function of innovation systems framework, was used to examine activities of actors and organizations in the case studies (Eastwood et al., 2017). One of the major findings from Eastwood et al. study was that complex agricultural innovations require a collaborative approach for successful innovation and diffusion. As earlier mentioned, the innovation diffusion process was used to identify key roles and the impact they had on the adoption of new innovations.

In Nieuwenhuijsen et al. (2018) quantitative study, a diffusion of innovation theory was used to determine the acceptability of automated vehicle technology. Despite the multitude of advantages offered by automated and self-driving vehicles, there was no major increase in the purchase of those vehicles. One of the main themes identified from using the DOI theory was that the maturity of technology in automated vehicles were in direct relations with market size. DOI analysis provided valuable and iterative feedback about the rate of acceptance of vehicles and sales of automated vehicles. Nieuwenhuijsen et al. findings were able to show the gradual acceptability of new automation features in vehicles over a longer period of time.

Research using a DOI theory methodology is prevalent in many technology disciplines. Hosseini et al. (2015) study involved the aspects of diffusion of innovation in the architecture, engineering, and construction industry. To ensure safety to populations, architecture, engineering, and construction methods are being standardize globally. It was important to study the global understanding and usage of the innovation of diffusion methodology within these industry communities of practice. Global virtual engineering team's efficiency and effectiveness are affected by the level of acceptance of the innovative technology. According to Ozorhon et al. (2014) findings, innovation barriers are responsible for the limitations experienced in construction organizations. Implementation of innovation diffusion within construction is highly depending on government enforcement (Na Lim, 2014).

Simpson and Clifton (2017) used diffusion of innovation in their study of early adopters of solar energy in Australia. The goal was to demonstrate that Rogers' theory would benefit the adoption of emerging solar technology, based on incentives. Government policies promoting the new technology through diffusion of innovation was evaluated, especially providing financial incentives. Simpson and Clifton findings attest to the effective use of incentive to drive the adoption of innovation. No matter what industry diffusion of innovation is a critical element to move technology forward. Zhou and Li (2014) employed the diffusion of innovation theory in their analysis of the carbon emission reductions in China. The intent was to analysis how improvements, acceptability, and use of new technology could decrease the carbon emission affecting the population. According to Zhou and Li findings indicate economic growth is driving up carbon emission. However, industrial enterprises implementing technology innovation diffusion techniques could increase technology measures to reduce carbon emission. Zhou and Li study is another example of the wide-reaching effect and values the diffusion of innovation conceptual theory has in the analysis of accepting technology innovation.

When considering the possible conceptual frameworks and theories, the publicsector innovation (PSI) theory was reviewed as a possible framework. Gow (2014) presents a variety of samples in innovation theories to examine possible changes within the PSI theory. The outcome seems to be two themes in innovation theory changes. Innovation is seen either through a structured process or a continuous series of events in trial and errors. It seems that there is still important disagreement about what constitutes a true innovation, with the debate centering on the merits of a multitude of lesser improvements versus a smaller number of major, disruptive, changes (Gow, 2014). Glor 's (2015) grounded theory approach to examining the innovation of change within organizations argues that researcher cannot apply preset categories immediately, but must develop substantive theory first, then see if others' categories are linked to the emergent substantive theory. The PSI theory would limit the potential applicability of this research study, excluding the value to private sector organizations.

In addition to the innovation diffusion theory conceptual framework, literature exploring the UTAUT and TAM theories for IT services were widely reviewed, as possible conceptual frameworks to conduct this study. The constructs: performance expectancy, effort expectancy, social influence and facilitating conditions, of the UTAUT theory is widely used to evaluate end-user 's adaption to innovation and information system changes (Chang et al., 2016). UTAUT is a mature conceptual framework, developed on the improvement from other proven theories of technology adoption (Rahi et al., 2018). UTAUT was used to provide a comprehensive model of user's motivation to use mobile payment card systems (Morosan & DeFranco, 2016). Maillet et al. (2015) study findings were very comprehensive; however, demonstrated some limitation in the use of UTAUT to gain a totally non-refutable study result. Khalilzadeh et al. (2017) used the hybrid of the UTAU and TAM theories to incorporate the user's attitude in an effort to increase the efficacy of their study. The TAM theory is often used to analyze data and information collected for quantitative and mixed method studies. Tan et al. (2014) findings confirm that convenience is a key factor in mobile payment adoption. If consumers find the innovation useful, they are more likely to adopt the services offered (Rahi et al., 2017). See tharaman et al. (2017) study using the TAM model validated an 85% supportability of acceptance of mobile wallet in Singapore. This is particularly in view of the advantages brought about by mobile credit card over cash or credit card payment in terms of quicker and more convenient transactions. In the Tan et al. study, the model only takes into consideration two constructs, resulting in the overall prediction as not considered to be complete. Under that circumstance, the PSI, UTAUT, and TAM

conceptual theories were not sufficient to be the independent conceptual framework, requiring additional constructs to defend the findings of the study.

IT is constantly changing. The methods and conceptual models used to measure changes and innovation must be adaptable to changes in technology. Overemphasis on construct measurement can lead to operationalism: a naive empiricism that reduces a concept to its measures. Substituting operationalization for conceptualization means that the original assumptions and meanings underlying the concept are left unexamined (Welch et al., 2015). One model can totally represent all factors affecting the adoption of innovation by customers (Park & Lee, 2014). Caiazza (2016) study provided insight into the importance policy maker exert on the overall success of innovation diffusion. Legal, economic, technical, and cultural barriers degrade the process of diffusion (Caiazza, 2016). Without the support of policy-maker to adapt appropriate policy and governance, consumers and providers of technology innovations suffer from innovation barriers. Focusing the questions in the study on those three main phases of the innovation theoretical framework ensured sampling data saturation on the main themes of the research study. Given the main objective of the study, the diffusion of innovation theory was used to evaluate, study, report findings, and make recommendations for future research.

Previous Research and Findings

Previous research conducted on smart card technology, like chip-and-PIN technology, show the favored potential for security. However, research indicates that organizations are not taking full advantage of the value. Conroy's (2014) article is a

summary of the state of chip-and-PIN credit card usage in the United States. "Despite the liability deadline, by the end of 2015 only 70% of credit cards in the U.S.A. are expected to be EMV-ready, and only 41% of debit cards. This is according to a report released by the Aite Group in October 2014" (Conroy, 2014, p. 1). Banks and vendors will be held responsible for protecting the integrity and privacy of the credit card. "According to the Aite report, credit card fraud has doubled from 2007 to 2014, reaching 10 cents out of every \$100 in transactions. Most financial institutions are preparing to use Chip-and-Signature to secure credit cards, and Chip-and-PIN to secure debit cards" (Conroy, 2014, p. 1). After the banking industry issues all credit cards with chip technology, the security risks and financial liability transfers to vendors and their point of sales systems. In addition, Conroy (2014) illustrated the financial costs to credit cards holder and banking industry. The data supports the negative impacts of vendor's credit card authentication systems not moving to the new chip technology.

Users must trust in the security of the emerging technology before they will use it. Jones and Leonard, (2014) study tested a model of buyer's trust in customer to customer e-commerce. By examining previous trust models, perceived web site quality, third-party recognition, fear of seller opportunism, information asymmetry, and Internet safety training were found to influence buyer's trust in conducting e-commerce transactions (Jones & Leonard, 2014). Tsohou et al. (2015) argued that security awareness processes are associated with interrelated changes that occur at the organizational, the technological and the individual level. Organizations which can provide consumer confidence in their products and security of their organization business systems are more likely to keep their customers and strive financially.

Vuori and Huy (2016) conducted a qualitative study of Nokia to understand its rapid downfall over the 2005–2010 periods from its position as a world-dominant and innovative technology organization. The authors found that top and middle managers' shared emotions during the smartphone innovation process caused cycles of behaviors that harmed both the process and its outcome. Vuori and Huy study showed managers were afraid of external competitors and shareholders, while middle managers were mainly afraid of internal groups, including superiors and peers. The authors findings indicate that shared emotions can hinder the subsequent integration of attention, influencing innovation processes and outcomes and resulting in temporal myopia—a focus on short-term product innovation at the expense of long-term innovation development.

There were previous research and study findings from multiple functional areas supporting the effectiveness of using biometrics as a method of increasing security beyond smart card authentication. Moon et al. (2015) study improve on the theories and scheme findings presented by Lu et al. study on advanced scheme authentications. The recommendation is to use the findings and collection of empirical data to support the need for further study in the application of credit card smart card technology. Jiang et al. (2015) study supports the premises that smartcard authentication is more secure than simple login ID and password authentication. Jiang et al. findings support the capability for enhanced technical controls of the authentication process, leaving opportunities to further inquire about the human behavior aspect and reasons for the slow implementation of smartcard usage in the United States.

There are statistics demonstrating the abuse and misuse of card credits in electronic payment transactions. According to the 2013 Federal Reserved Payments Study, the estimated number of unauthorized card payment transactions in 2012 was 29.5 million, with a total loss estimated at \$3.9 billion (Gerdes et al., 2013). Gerdes et al. (2013) covered a variety of payment statistics including the charts and graphs, giving an unexpected visual effect and interpretation of the data. The data presented in the study provides enough data saturation to confidently substantiate the premises of abuse in unauthorized credit card transactions. However, it is limited to data, that was collected 7 years ago, leaving opportunity for further research efforts.

The U.S. Department of Justice Bureau of Justice Statistics National Criminal Justice finds approximately 66% of credit card fraud victims experienced a financial loss (Harrell, 2015). Collins (2015) presented up to date information on the use and circulation of EMV cards.. The fact that the credit card company expects 60% of all large U.S. retailers to have implemented EMV by the end of the year. EMV transactions specific algorithms are not publicly known, criminals cannot (easily) replicate the algorithm to produce counterfeit credit cards (Collins, 2015; Martinovic, et al., 2017). The findings indicate the value of using a chip and PIN technology to conduct ecommerce transactions.

Those Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) statistics were used in my research study to emphasize the additional network security benefits of using two-factor

authentication. In addition, EMV card transactions transmit data between the merchant and the issuing bank with a special code that is unique to each individual transaction. The unique transaction code provides the cardholder greater security and makes the EMV card less vulnerable to criminal activity while the data is transmitted from the chipenabled PoS to the issuing bank (Foxworth, 2015; Shu et al., 2016). Kamel and Lanet (2013) described and defined the most common and dangerous attack named cross site scripting and propose solutions to prevent and check if the Web application is well developed, by applying secured development methodology. Kamel and Lanet study demonstrates the lack of knowledge of technical solution providers in the methodologies available for securing e-commerce smart card transactions. Hendi (2011) study demonstrates the effective uses of chip-and-PIN authentication to deter credit card fraud. Reduction in credit card fraud was successfully tracked over a period of years to substantiate the technology as the leading cause for the reduction. There was quantifiable evidence that the majority of credit card crimes against the United Kingdom credit card owners were committed from overseas, by using stolen credit card information in countries without upgraded chip-and-PIN authentication technology (Hendi, 2011). Lewis et al. (2014) findings indicate that a lack of security in e-commerce infrastructures are technology-related obstacles and barriers to international e-commerce. Research shows credit card transactions without chip and PIN technology introduces vulnerabilities to the global payment card industry.

There has been progress made in the uses of empirical studies, to further the transfer of knowledge to the information security industry. Hemphill and Longstreet

(2016) acknowledged the constant changes to security evaluation measures, challenges to restore confidence in technology security standard. It is important to understanding the cybercrime impact to stakeholders and providing them adequate information with methods for practical applications to protect credit card users (Arief & Adzmi, 2015). Choi and Park (2015) found the need for further research on multimodal biometric systems and supports my premise for a further doctoral level research study. Shin and Lee (2014) expanded on the ideas of emerging capabilities in the dual-chip contactless card, using a user's fingerprint to active electronic payment transactions without the requirement to interact physically with a POS terminal. There are future challenges to improve credit card fraud detection frameworks and continue the studies required to attracting more industrial contributions to body of knowledge (Fiore et al., 2017). The security of electronic fund transfers using credit cards requires continuous review, application of emerging technologies, and innovative methods for improvement.

Implementing chip and PIN technology is essential; however, validation and continuous improvement to the system is required. In a study by Ouerdi et al. (2013), the authors address the need to conduct vulnerability testing as a prerequisite to building security into trusted credit card security systems. The scope of the study was to develop robust test cases and run exploiting attacks against the vulnerability within the payment systems. Ouerdi et al. generated vulnerability test cases based on models of EMV specifications. The findings from this study provided supporting data for establishing relevant content to my research study and need for additional rigorous testing of authentication processes.

After a major comprise and data breach is conducted successfully, organizations must be able to react to the effects. Organizations must acknowledge, repair, and provide protection from future threaten events. Bahnsen et al. (2015) using a real credit card fraud dataset provided by a large European card processing company, compared state-of-the-art credit card fraud detection models, and evaluated how the different sets of features have an impact on the results. The authors present statics, conceptual theories, and frameworks about security breaches and trust repair strategies in their study. Wan and Zhang (2014) argued managerial step can lessen concerns about "cheap talk" and the limitations of mere words to repair trust after a violation. Wan and Zhang study proposes possible research suggestions about repair after privacy breach incidents. An important part of the implementation of a new authentication system is to gain back the confidence of the customers affected by the previous security breach. This information supported the quality of the data collected for the doctoral study.

In their efforts to reduce security risks and limit financial liability caused by security breaches, organizations are seeking other secure methods process credit card transactions. Lundberg et al. (2014) shed light on how retailers view alternative payment forms and to what extent they are willing to risk offending their customers by imposing payment restrictions. The focused was solely on the retailers' point of view on the payment stage, implying a need for additional research on customers' and bank representatives' views on the same matter. Citizens and stakeholders buy in is critical in successfully implementing smart technology (Yeh, 2017). A study by Lundberg et al. focuses on how the banking industry has and can lead in providing a more secure e-

commerce. Lundberg et al. provides a comparison between European and United States banking industries. The United States has the largest number of financial loss due to credit card fraud. "In the United States, although fraud constituted less than 1% of total expenditures, credit card losses totaled \$5.33 billion, an increase of 14.5% from 2011" (Figliola, 2015, p. 2). Growth in e-commerce, international trade, reduction of trade restrictions, market capitalization of new nations, and globalization increases the uses of credit card transactions. Increase access to automated teller machine and vendors accepting credit cards has increased the use of credits cards for travelers. Figliola findings show globally, card fraud totaled \$11.3 billion in 2012, an increase of 15% from 2011. With statistical data validating the increase in credit card fraud, the implementation of chip-and PIN technology is an essential authentication technology, to reduce the growing problem.

The internet of things (IOT) has increased the capability of using near-field communication (NFC); virtual credit cards, credit cards payment services loaded on phones, iPad, token devices, and other Bluetooth credit card payment options. Shin and Lee (2014) described how mobile payment is the integration of near-field communication (NFC) enabled smartphones and credit/debit/prepaid cards. Using the TAM and Technology Readiness and Acceptance Model, Shin and Lee (2014) demonstrate how those conceptual frameworks can be effectively implemented in a doctoral study. The banking industry in South Korea provides a digital certificate for the online banking users at no cost. The personal digital certificate must be saved on a personal smartphone. Without buying hardware authentication token, online banking users in South Korea can use their own smartphone for their authentication in South Korea. Shin and Lee study suggest that to be a successful payment service, the NFC mobile payment service must be much more focused on the usefulness against other alternative payment methods. This was a reliable source for presenting an alternate perspective other than chip-and-PIN.

One of the growing security problems with credit card transactions is the Cardnot-present (CNP) vulnerability. Without the actual credit card being present during the transaction, other non-tangible factors must be validated, requiring the vendor to depend on the verbal confirmation of the person making the CNP transaction. Pouwelse and Bruggink's (2016) address the growing complications of securing credit card transactions by CNP transaction fraud, within a study. Pouwelse and Bruggink study indicate that card fraud is a key cybercrime activity, with a full-scale underground economy. Conducting the study in Europe allowed the authors to draw from the ample amount of data collected on their credit card systems. Pouwelse and Bruggink present an effective depiction of the contrast of card fraud in the USA compared to the rest of the world. Biza-Khupe's (2014) study examined consumer information acquisition activities for banking services by proposing a model postulating search as influenced by perceived benefits, perceived risk, perceived search cost and prior knowledge. The tests measured a comprehensive model of consumer credit search behavior using structural equation modeling. The implications of these findings to theory and policy, particularly as concerning rethinking financial information regulation in consumer financial markets (Biza-Khupe, 2014). CNP is the weakest area and highest risk facing the credit card payment transaction process. The findings from all recent studies indicate the importance of using the more secure chipand-PIN method of authentication. The value of chip-and-PIN is lost in a CNP transaction.

Security breaches, computer viruses, malicious codes, and new hacking methods are being developed every day. These security threats are having a macroeconomic impact on the global payment card industry (Banka, 2017). Preventing or reducing the damage of these security threats require continuous innovation of technology and how humans use technology. There is a crucial need to continue analyzing human aspects in information security, because technology alone cannot deliver complete security solutions (Ashish et al., 2017). A common theme expressed throughout the literature reviewed was the need to continue further research on the improvement of user authentication technology, human side of information security, and integrating it into all phases of the information systems development life cycle. Until a higher percentage of merchants implement chip and PIN capable infrastructure, there is ample reasons and justification to conduct studies to explore the IT problem. In addition, there are limited peer-reviewed documents and resources published addressing chip and PIN technology implementations in the United States. Most documentation references the implementations and statistics in Europe, Asia, and Africa.

Transition and Summary

The purpose of this qualitative pragmatic study was to explore strategies used by IT managers to transition their e-commerce organizations to point-of-sales smart card authentication infrastructures. In this section, I conducted an extensive literature review, revealing some example of the success of chip-and-PIN technology in other countries. The review provided insight into the gaps in the body of knowledge addressing the insecurities of credit card purchase in the United States, without using chip and PIN technology.

The following two sections of this study presents a comprehensive synthesis of the selected theories and concepts, as they applied to the problem statement and purpose of the study. In section 2, I provided detail explanations of the researcher's role, data collection process, and methodology used to validate the quality of the data. For the third and final section, I included a summary of the data, findings, and application to IT discipline. Also, I summarized additional recommendations made for further study and benefits to social change.

Section 2: The Project

In Section 2, I present a comprehensive synthesis of the selected theories and concepts as they apply to the problem statement and purpose of the study. Detailed explanations of the researcher's role, data collection process, and validation of the quality of the data are also provided in this section.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative pragmatic study was to explore strategies used by IT managers to transition their e-commerce organizations to chip-and-PIN credit card authentication infrastructures. The targeted population was IT managers in e-commerce organizations located in the United States who had strategies to transition their organizations to a chip-and- PIN credit card authentication infrastructures. In the findings of the study, I identified strategies that other IT managers can apply to efficiently transition their e-commerce organizations to a chip-and- PIN credit card authentication platform. The implications for positive social change include the increased security of credit card transactions and protection of consumer's PII as well as the reduction of fraud in the global e-commerce market and number of financial crimes committed.

Role of the Researcher

To examine each organization's chip-and-PIN implementation strategies, I was the primary interviewer and data collection manager. In a qualitative study, the researcher is heavily involved in the interview, data collection, and assessment processes of the phenomena (McClusker & Gunaydin, 2015). In their study, McClusker and Gunaydin compared the research method and design choices and indicated the role the researcher plays in each design. From this comparison, they reported that the qualitative researcher was more immersed in the data collection activities of the phenomena than a quantitative researcher. I initiated all correspondence with the participants, conducted all interviewing sessions, and collected and maintained all the data (in the form of participant interview audio recordings, field notes, other empirical data, and data files) in the current study.

Although I have knowledge on the use of chip-and-PIN technology, no personal or professional relationships existed between me and selected participants. I used chipand-PIN smart card technology on a daily basis to access my desktop computer at my workplace. Without a successful chip-and-PIN smart card authentication login process, I cannot access my computer or network resources in my organization, so I am very familiar with the topic. Until the participants were selected, I only knew them as members of organizations with a POS technology presence. Several of the potential participating organizations have their headquarters in the United States. I did not have any relationship to the geographic locations of the participating organizations. The organizations and geographic locations selected for this study were chosen based on their ability to broaden the reach of retail organizations with substantial amounts of POS technology presence.

To ensure I conducted the research study in an ethical manner, I followed all elements within the Walden University institution's ethical guidelines. I requested approval from the Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB) to conduct my study. IRBs provide oversight on studies involving human subjects, protecting participants from unethical research practices (Cross et al., 2014). In my request for approval, I provided my National Institutes of Health (NIH) Protecting Human Research Participants Certification Number 1794335 (see Appendix B) to the IRB. I protected the privacy and information of all participants by following the guidelines laid out in *The Belmont Report* (see U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, 1979). Under the rules established in *The Belmont Report*, interviewers are required to ensure all participants and protected sensitive groups are not harmed by the research and interviewing processes (Barker, 2013). I had a complete understanding of and then adhered to the guidelines of the Walden University IRB and *The Belmont Report* to ensure all participants were protected and the study was fully aligned with expected ethical requirements.

As a certified system engineer and IS security professional, I have vast experience and technical skills acquired throughout my 35 years in the IT security field. A researcher's experiences have influence on their interviewing methods and interpretation of the collected data (Anyan, 2013). Despite having experience in the field of study, it was important that I adhered to the interviewing strategies and protocol for best accuracy. In West and Kreuter's (2013) study on the behavior of interviewers, experienced interviewers were just as likely to make mistakes as non-experienced interviewers, whenever they did not stick to the observation strategies. Having vast experience and familiarity with the topic can present potential issues to the study concerning the researcher's influence and personal bias. Conversely, as an experienced professional and subject matter expert in the field under study, my experience may provide valuable insight on the best means to interpret the data collected. I mitigated bias by accurately documenting the statements and contents provided by each participant. Immediately annotating and recording the answers of the interviewees reduced the risks of bias (see Chenail, 2011). I used a proven interview protocol and data collection technique, coding the data collected and removing the names and specifics of the participants. Aligning the coded data to the established themes removes potential risks to researcher bias (Pierre & Jackson, 2014). Instituting an effective interview protocol and data collection and coding processes and then following those standards rigorously reduced the possibility of bias in the study.

Conducting an effective research study relies on the ability to bring credibility to the data collected in the study. In a qualitative study, the interview process is a fundamental method used to collect most of the data to be analyzed. A qualitative study can be conducted using public available records, organization data, and interviews consisting of semi structured and open-ended questions (Zohrabi, 2013). Based on my pragmatic inquiry design, this study required me to be consistent in the way I conducted the interviews across all organizations. I used a general interviewing protocol method to gather multiple perspectives of an organization's experiences with implementing chipand-PIN authentication technology (see Appendix C). An interview protocol is used by researchers to ensure the structure, elements, and questions are conducted the same across all interview sessions (Patton, 2015). Interview protocols keep both the interviewer and interviewee focused on the main research question and topics. Interviewing IT managers in different organizations provided the appropriate data sets to validate the research findings. I designed and presented the interview questions in a manner to ascertain specific information from IT managers based on a comparison between the old methods of magnetic strip authentication and the new chip-and-PIN system. Maintaining consistency and integrity of the data collected is most efficient when an interview protocol is established, implemented, and followed (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). Using a general interviewing protocol method ensured the interview sessions were organized and credible in this study.

Participants

To gain the most accurate data about chip-and-PIN implementation strategies, ecommerce organizations were the targeted population in this pragmatic inquiry. The participants were IT managers within the organizations selected. IT managers within the organizations were interviewed because interviewing a group of subject matter experts is the best way to gather information to support a research topic (see Sutton & Arnold, 2013). Managers at the executive level make the decisions on how organizations will implement their security posture (Flowerday & Tuyikeze, 2016). IT managers are expected to guide the implementation of IT security measures within their organizations (Ashenden, & Sasse, 2013). Organizations experience high turnovers of their IT security managers due to the increased cybersecurity complexity and stress of the position (Clay, 2015). The inclusion criteria for the participants were 2 years of experience as an IT manager and 1 year of experience with their current organization. Senior managers and their understanding of the value of IT security in their organization is a critical factor in understanding and reducing security risks (Barton et al., 2016). The organizations' IT managers were subject matter experts who implemented security solutions within their

organizations and was able to authoritatively speak to the strategies used in their implementation of solutions.

My strategy to gain access to participants for this study included written correspondence, telecommunications systems, mail messaging systems, and online collaboration applications. I searched for participants in organizations that have an ecommerce presence. I received permission to interview IT managers, who were the selected participants within organizations. I initiated contact with interview candidates by web interface, email, or phone, if email was not possible. Phone communication with perspective participants is an effective means to ensure maximum participation in the study (Flood-Grady et al., 2017). I sent a formal invitation to participants through online collaboration software or written email along with a consent form included as an attachment. Two weeks was sufficient time to gain a response from the potential participants. Participants agreed to the interview session either by making a website acknowledgement, email confirmation, or official mail correspondence. The researcher's views and methods used in communicating with participants can affect the quality of the study (Berger, 2015). Phone calls, emails, and online collaboration events were used to schedule the culminating interviewing session for each IT manager. Online and other technological methods are available to conduct interviewing sessions; however, face-toface interviews provide the strongest validity in gaining the most convincing study findings from participants (Bowden & Galindo-Gonzalez, 2015). Using the web collaboration tools, internet, "contact us" mailboxes, phone calls, and follow-up

scheduling calls gave me full access to participating organizations and their representatives.

To establish a working relationship with the participants, I scheduled a preliminary interview kick-off meeting. To build trust and gain the participant's confidence, I discussed the purpose of the study, explained the interview protocol, established the interview session framework, and confirmed the time schedule. Interviewers should have an interviewing concept and be familiar with the questions they will pose to participants (Mittereder et al., 2017). I explained the data collection methods, IS measures, and record storage procedures to the participants. Protection of participant information is required by law and enforced by the IRB process. Participants will be more willing to share information knowing that their information will be protected against unauthorized disclosure (Beskow et al., 2014). I used final follow-up and openended questions to get the interviewees to share their implementation strategies, experiences, and recommendations on how to best implement chip-and-PIN systems. Open-ended questions provide participants with the opportunity to explain their reasoning behind their initial answer to a question. (Yii et al., 2014). Member checking can be used iteratively to validate information provided to the researcher for clarity and alignment with the research question (Harvey, 2015). I used member checking to validate the accuracy of the data collected.

The researcher can establish a positive working relationship with each participant by providing an effective open channel of two-way communication, communicating expectations, synchronizing schedules, and following the interviewing protocol. To ensure the main research question is answered by the appropriate participants, IT managers within organizations were the key person to interview. I abstracted study data from IT managers using an interview protocol, consisting of eight sub questions supporting the main research question. The IT manager had the opportunity to bring all available resources with them to the interview and were provided with enough time to answer each question in detail.

Research Method and Design

In this study, I employed a qualitative methodology with a pragmatic inquiry design as the most appropriate means to explore the themes of the phenomenon. In this subsection, I identify, discuss, and review other potential methodologies and designs that were considered. In addition, I explain and justify my research methodology and design decisions.

Method

I selected a qualitative methodology as the most suitable means to explore strategies used by IT managers to transition their organizations to chip-and-PIN credit card authentication infrastructures. I selected the qualitative method to engage in a more in-depth, exploratory dialog with participants interviewed in the study. A qualitative methodology allows the researcher to gain information on the participants' experiences and interpretations of the phenomenon (Sutton & Austin, 2015). Incorporating openended questions and taking detailed field notes allowed me to better understand the participants' responses to the interview questions and the themes they expressed. I used the open-ended questioning technique because it was effective in extracting a clearer understanding from the subject matter experts' perspectives. My field notes helped me explain some of the nonverbal expressions made by participants.

The qualitative research method empowers participants to be more open and express themselves, resulting in a more comprehensive research study (Edwards & Brannelly, 2017). A more comprehensive study provides data saturation and more evidence towards establishing dependability in the findings of the research study. The qualitative research method gave participants the freedom to expound on their ideas, experiences, and application of their strategies. By empowering the participants to speak openly and unfettered, an interview question could initiate a richer discussion about a specific theme the participant may feel is more important to explain their experience of the phenomenon. A qualitative interview session also provides flexibility that allows the researcher to ask about and understand the whole experience of the respondent (Makrakis & Kostoulas-Makrakis, 2016). As a means to gain the full picture, I asked each participant to explain any other critical relationships and partnerships affecting the success of their strategies. Using a qualitative research method provided me with more agile and spontaneous interactions with my participants, allowing me to adjust the questions and model the study according to the emerging themes.

In the initial search for the best research method, quantitative and mixed-method approaches were two other methodologies considered. A quantitative methodology can reveal statistical information and test hypotheses of the past and current phenomenon (Frels & Onwuegbuzie, 2013). My assessment, of understanding the problem within the study, did not reveal a need to test a hypothesis or compare statistical analysis of the organizations participating in the study. I did not think numerically grading each organization against each other organization would provide the insight and interpretation of feelings of individuals who experienced the phenomenon. Quantitative research findings are commonly used to conduct numerical analysis of a hypothesis, rather than non-numerical data assessments (Landrum & Garza, 2016). The approach of this study was not to measure variables, prove a hypothesis, or compare the statistical outcomes of each organization's strategy. The most important aspect of the study was to explore and understand the strategies that were used by each organization. Using a quantitative method would have limited the interpretation of the participant's experience in the phenomenon. A quantitative method provides more detailed information base on measuring specific variables but limits the interpretation of the phenomena experienced by participants (McCusker & Gunaydin, 2015). Given those factors, a quantitative study approach did not align with exploring the IT problem within the study.

Another methodology considered was a mixed-methods approach. A mixed methods approach is a methodology which uses the data sets and statistical results from a quantitative method combined with qualitative methods to further interpret the reason of a phenomenon (Mauceri, 2014). With the main intent of the study was to determine the strategies to answer the "how" and "why" questions, conducting an initial quantitative study would not align with the IT problem and research questions, within this study. Without a need to test a hypothesis or compare numerical statistical analysis of each organization, I believe there was no reasonable cause to conduct a mixed method approach. Tsushima (2015) findings indicated mixed-method research needs to be constructed based on measurable variables and present information which cannot be accomplished by conducting either a single quantitative or single qualitative method. Based on Tsushima definition of a mixed methods approach, I did not believe the research questions in my study required conducting both a single quantitative and a single qualitative method to explore strategies used in a chip-and-PIN smart card authentication process. Conducting a mixed-methods approach can a create conflict of the established norms of both qualitative and quantitative approaches (Archibald et al., 2015). I think a mixed methods approach would confuse the themes, audience, and focus of the main research question. My decision was further supported by the fact that this study did not have a hypothesis. Therefore, a quantitative method or a mixed methods approach was not appropriate for this study. The qualitative method was used to explore the strategies used by some IT managers to transition their e-commerce organizations to chip-and-PIN credit card authentication infrastructures.

Research Design

A pragmatic inquiry design was used in this study. A pragmatic study is an exploratory research design of a phenomenon, to gain in depth insight from multiple groups of individuals experiencing the phenomenon (Lohre, 2020; Nipp et al., 2016). A pragmatic inquiry design was used to explore strategies by organization's IT managers. A pragmatic study is an effective design to investigate a contemporary phenomenon, utilizing participants and analysis of publicly available data in real-world environment (Agrawal, 2021). IT managers participating in the study were the perfect candidates to explain their experiences and strategies. Using a pragmatic inquiry design provided indepth insight into each organization's experience, transition strategy, and strategic perspective from their IT managers. Interviewing and collecting their verbal and written statements gave the opportunity to document the phenomena. Pragmatic studies provide the means to use multiple methods to gather and document the participant's experience of the phenomena (Pagnini et al., 2021). Documenting the information from the participants provided the factors to define, establish, and refine the themes needed to report the results of the study. The results of the pragmatic study can be used to inform the other ecommerce organizations facing the same IT problem and determine future requirements for further studies. Pragmatic study research allows for an exploratory and conceptual understanding of the emotional and cultural behaviors of the studies participants (Mao et al., 2021; Stewart, 2016). Conducting a pragmatic study allows the research study to be shown as transferable, based on validating the study across multiple organizations. To ensure the appropriate level of scrutiny of the IT problem across the ecommerce industry, a pragmatic inquiry was the best suited design approach.

When selecting the best study designs, ethnographic and phenomenological designs were considered as possible alternatives to a pragmatic inquiry. An ethnographic design is used to capture and compare organizational cultural influences, behaviors, and experiences of participants within a group, during their live experience of the phenomenon (Jarzabkowski et al., 2014). In the ethnographic research study design, the researcher participates heavily in the group experiencing the phenomenon (Berthod et al., 2017). Ethnographic studies require the researcher to involve themselves in the physical events and actions of the group within the study of the phenomenon (Mears, 2013). The

intent of the study was to learn from successful strategies which have already been executed, by the participants, not to go through the transition with them. The recruited organization's information security measures, confidentiality requirements, and need-toknow policies would limit the researcher's ability to successfully conduct an ethnographic study design.

A phenomenological design study collects data from in-depth and multiple interviews with each participant, who have already experienced the phenomenon (Gill, 2014). A phenomenological approach can lead to different interpretations and acceptance of the facts, due to the individual perspective of everyone (Whittemore, 2014). Everyone within each organization was interviewed, only the appropriate IT managers. Phenomenological studies place more focus on individual experiences (Tomkins & Eatough, 2013). The primary goal is to gain a comprehensive and consolidated strategic insight from each organization, not multiple strategies from every employee. Based on the need to research multiple organizations and their strategies used during their transition, a phenomenological and ethnographic design approach would not be as effective in exploring in-depth the strategies and transition events from IT managers, who experienced their organization's transition to chip-and-PIN credit card authentication infrastructures. Therefore, ethnographic and phenomenological designs were not selected.

O'Reilly and Parker (2013) agreed with the concept of saturation, that qualitative research is concerned with the richness of information and the number of participants required. I ensured all formats of data, information, and opportunities to gather information were exhausted. Appropriate saturation depends on the nature of the topic

and the resources available. It is acceptable, therefore, that any limitations of sampling adequacy are transparently reported. Researchers thus need to be clear in dissemination if they reached saturation, how they reached it and what issues they faced during recruitment (O'Reilly & Parker, 2013). To ensure data saturation, a larger amount of invitation should be extended to potential population audience than is required for the maximum participation of interviewees (Fusch & Ness, 2015). I sent multiple invitations out to potential participants, ensuring full participation for the pragmatic inquiry. Applying a rigor inquiry concept ensured saturation, as well as the reliability, validity, and dependability of the population and sample. J. M. Morse (2015) insisted data saturation is essential to establishing rigor, which is the concern of external evaluators who ultimately determine the worth of qualitative research. External evaluators of the data collection and analysis techniques provides creditability to qualitative research study (Cope, 2014). In addition, empirical data collected from other relevant studies can be analyzed to determine the effectiveness of census sampling size within the study (Berthod et al., 2017). To effectively explore the research topic and ensure data saturation, a pragmatic inquiry design was the optimal design for use in this study.

Population and Sampling

The populations selected for this study was the IT managers of e-commerce organizations. The population was located in the United States. Identifying the appropriate population and sample size are key elements in the conducting a success research strategy and gaining accurate findings for a study topic (Robinson, 2014). I used census sampling of selected organizations in the retail industry. In a pragmatic study, a census selection method involves participation from all organizations in consideration. Census sampling allows researchers analyze members within targeted populations (Bossuyt et al., 2020). Researchers must identify and determine the sample size, which aligns best with their problem statement and address the desired research validity (Bengtsson, 2016). Developing the representative sample size requires the evaluation of potential bias (Enticott et al., 2017). To effectively represent the group affected by the problem, a census sampling method was used to select the sample size. Census sampling is an effective method to gain understanding of the research problem from a smaller population most familiar with the problem (Roy et al., 2015). Lucas (2014) findings indicated the use of census sampling must be conducted in a manner which generalization of the overall population is consistent with acceptable social research. Using census sampling, the populations selected for this study was IT managers in e-commerce organization. IT managers are the executive level officer responsible for; sponsoring, reporting, and executing the funding for the final solution. Qualitative study's do not have mandatory or minimum sample sizes. Sample size is based on element of the research strategy and expected quality of data (Elo et al., 2014). The sampling method used resulted in a sample size of five, which was determined based on the population size of e-commerce organizations. In a one-phase approach candidate screening effort, Yin (2014) recommended avoiding prolong screening of each individual candidate, which slows down the process and may become individual case studies themselves. Consideration of the potential harm to interviewee's leadership position, valuable time, confidentially, and privacy within their organization must be respected. A qualitative

pragmatic inquiry research by Johnson (2014) exploring ethical issue associated with researchers shadowing healthcare CEOs demonstrated the need to consider the potential harm and unwarranted exposure of the participant. Johnson's research of top managers included a small sample size to satisfy ethical review requirements, but not overload busy managers. Johnson considered the rich data collected from the CEOs would be better than from a larger group, as long as the CEOs were given the confidentially and privacy they needed to participate in the research but not impact their workload. I took into consideration the mission impact to the IT manager within each of the organizations in the pragmatic inquiry. The sample size was determined based on the ability to have enough data saturation to compare strategies between organizations who have already implemented chip-and-PIN authentication technology. The IT managers were interviewed through an online collaboration tools or at a location within their organization, providing a setting where they can discuss matters confidentially and free from bias. The interview questions were provided to the interviewees prior to the session, allowing them time to gather their thoughts and reflex on their implemented solution strategies. Interviewing the IT managers enabled access to them and to other supporting resources they may provide, during the interview. The researcher asked open-ended questions and provided the interviewee the opportunity to elaborate on each question and follow-up questions. There was the potential to collect briefing material, design notes, and other artifacts used in their implementation strategy.

Collecting information from interview sessions, briefing materials, design notes, and other data artifacts, provided sufficient information to support my study. I gathered enough information, conduct triangulation, and member checking to fulfill data saturation. Data saturation goals is the driving factor used in establishing the participant population size for theoretical saturation (Hennink et al., 2016). Drew (2014) conducted a study to determine the best means to overcoming barriers in qualitative interviews. Interviewing organizations elites can be challenging; however, results in rich data collected. Drew findings indicated the method and means the researcher engages the interviewees will determine the success of data saturation from interview sessions. Data and results from secondary data analysis can be helpful in validity and data saturation for studies (Moy & Murphy, 2016). Moy and Murphy (2016) studied the differences in survey data collected from primary verses from secondary collection methods. The secondary data provided additional critical information, discussion of collection methodology, and data comparison values. I sought out secondary and empirical data to augment the interview sessions, incorporated in my study. The answers from the interview sessions, additional empirical data, and artifacts assisted in accomplishing data saturation. An explorative investigation of organizations, using member checking, secondary data, and triangulation, provided ample amount of data saturation to compare the different strategic implementations of their organization's chip-and-PIN authentication solutions.

Ethical Research

I ensured that all participants agree to the studies agenda and conditions. I had each participant sign a consent form. The consent document is depicted in Appendix D. IRB are boards established by research organizations to ensure each research study is conducted in compliance U.S. federal regulations, international guidelines, and ethic research standards. There was strict adherence to the ethical research standards, including proof of IRB approval. IRB approval is required to conduct studies involving collection of data from Human participants (Lunnay et al., 2015). Participants were informed of their rights and expected roles in the study. Beskow et al. (2014) demonstrated in their study the success achieved when informing participants of the efforts the researcher will take in protecting their rights and privacy. Describing the terms and possible risks, the consent form helped potential participants of the research to be aware of potential risk and helped them make a more informed decision on their willingness to participating in the study. The research strategy should provide protection of the participant's privacy and sensitive information (Mealer & Jones, 2014). The participants were briefed as to the nature of the study and their rights to change their mind later and withdraw if necessary.

Participants could withdraw at any time, during the study. In accordance with the consent form, participants were instructed on their right to withdrawal from the study. As a means to ensure the integrity of the findings, the withdrawal process and effect on data analysis should be addressed and documented in the study (Thrope, 2014). Participants could verbally or in written format notify the researcher that they no longer want to be involved with the study. Interviewees could verbally inform of their intent to withdraw from the study to me by phone or face to face conversations. Interviewees could write an email or a letter to indicate their intentions to end their participation. I would have acknowledged receipt of the withdrawal notification and confirm the nature of any future communications with the participant.
There was personal incentive or compensation for the participants of the study. Paying incentives to participants to participate in a research study is not unethical. Establishing the adequate amount to pay participants for an interview session was considered appropriate for this doctoral study. If financially well off, participants can feel insulted to be offered compensation for their efforts in a study (Killawi et al., 2014). For example in Killawi et al. (2014) study of compensating research participants in Qatar, offering a \$30 dollar pre-paid mobile phone card could offend financially well off participants. The researchers decided to offer the compensation after the end of the study, to those who were interested in the \$30 dollars pre-paid cards. Paying research participant may coerce their participation and influence their response to study questions. Polacsek et al. (2017) defined key terms, definitions, and assessments of what is acceptable when paying research participants. Other than the logistical cost for hosting the research interview session, paying an incentive could influence the participant's sincerity to be involved in the study (Polacsek et al., 2017). Participants were informed that their involvement is volunteer and provides financial incentive for their time. The consent form specifically stated that there is financial incentive for participating in the study.

Using a coding system, I separated the individual identifiable information from the research data, ensuring the integrity of the study data. Data and personal information should be instantly recoded with a random generated code (Turner et al., 2014). All electronic data was processed on my laptop. All transmission and storage of data was encrypted and remain encrypted while at rest. All data is stored on an external hard drive and secured in a safe, whenever study data is not being used. Orrell et al. (2013) conducted a qualitative study, examining continence services for older people, from a service providers' perspective. Due to the private and sensitive nature of the Orrell et al. study topic, protecting participants and their client's information was of utmost priority to the researchers. Orrell et al. study emphasized the sensitivity of conducting a study and need to protect participants information at all stages of the research process. In comparison, an organization's IT security data is sensitive and requires protection. I explained the protection of private and sensitive data in the consent form, available in Appendix D. I demonstrated my commitment, intention, and ethical requirement to protect data, by providing my NIH Protecting Human Research Participants Certification Number 1794335 to the IRB. My NIH certificate is presented in Appendix C. I will maintain the data in a safe place for 5 years to protect the confidentiality of participants. Data and paper files should be stored in a locked filing cabinet, which can only be accessed by the researcher (Johnson, 2014). I secured the research notes, files, and external hard drive in a lockable fire safe cabinet.

Data Collection

Instruments

I was the primary data collector. I conducted all the interviews and gathering of study data artifacts. The effective collection of data is key to conducting a reliable research study. The beginning phase of the research process is collecting data (Rimando et al., 2015). In this qualitative pragmatic inquiry, a semi structured in-depth interview was used as the primary data collection instrument. I conducted the interviews using online collaboration tools and face to face methods, presenting open-ended research questions to the IT managers within each organization. The findings of Wolgemuth et al. (2015) studies indicate that semistructured interviews encourage free and open discussions. Conversational interviews techniques between interviewer and interviewees provide more clarity and accuracy of response (Mittereder et al., 2017). Conducting face to face interviews results in more reliable and uncontested research data sources (Bowden & Galindo-Gonzalez, 2015). A well-established interviewing protocol framework can reinforce the reliability of the research (Patton, 2015). The research must ensure the questions are appropriate for the audiences and aligned with the theme of the study (Rimando et al., 2015). Prior to the interview session, the protocol process and questions were rehearsed, using the four-phase process to IPR process. The IPR process consists of; ensuring interview questions align with research questions, constructing an inquiry-based conversation, receiving feedback on interview protocols, and piloting the interview protocol (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). The protocol steps and interview protocol refinement processes are presented in Appendix C. The goal of the data collection instruments in a qualitative research study is to get a detail and in-depth understanding from the people experiencing the phenomenon (Neuman, 2014). To gather more in-depth personal knowledge and build a more conducive interviewing atmosphere, the majority of subquestions asked to interviewees was open-ended questions. Qualitative research methods making use of interviews with open-ended questionnaires is an effective means to obtain, analyze, and interpret the research data (Yii et al., 2014).

In addition to interviewing sessions, I collected documents, available secondary data, and existing organizational empirical data to support the data collected from

interview sessions, incorporated in my study. Secondary data sources strengthen the reliability of qualitative studies (Reddy, 2015). In Reddys' study he demonstrated and emphasized the uses triangulation of interview sessions, empirical, and archival data to strengthen the rigor of a pragmatic inquiry. The examination of secondary documents and artifacts helps to explore the experiences of the phenomenon (Colorafi & Evans, 2016). Colorafi and Evans used documentation and artifacts to support their data collection process in a qualitative descriptive approach. I believe secondary documents and artifacts helped to support data saturation. I used Microsoft Excel and Nvivo as document archival and electronic data management applications to store and harvest data during the collection process. Defelice and Janesick (2015) study of the use of technology in phenomenological research indicated that using tools like spreadsheets and word documents increased the efficiency of managing data within the studies. Microsoft Excel is a very effective tool to collect, create, and analysis qualitative research data (Defelice & Janesick, 2015). I used standard records and document management procedures to properly label, store, and archive documents.

Based on the study's semi structured data collection format, member checking was conducted to facilitate data saturation from the interviewees. Member checking is a method to ensure information was correctly recorded and interpreted, as stated by the interviewees during the session (Shipherd et al., 2014). Member checking techniques ensure the researcher doesn't impose their own interpretation of the interviewee's reflextions (Harvey, 2015). Conducting member checking empowers the interviewees, ensuring their interpretation of the questions and their answers are correct (Holmberg et al., 2014). Member checking is a technique used to improve data collection, which was used to enhance the credibility and internal validity of the study. The six main IT managers focused questions and demographical background questions are listed in Appendix A.

Data Collection Technique

Data collected from the interview sessions was used to set the baseline and establish the supporting elements for the main themes. Additional data artifacts were collected by email messages, electronic file exchanges, person to person, or by registered mail. Primary data collection was be accomplished by recording each face-to-face interview sessions, either by voice or video recording. Recording detailed data helps to keep the researcher focused on the main themes of the study (Pinsky, 2015). Conducting a face-to-face interview allowed me to observe the non-verbal and facial expression from the interviewees. In a Mindfulness Meditation Training for Sports study conducted by Baltzell et al. (2015), it was crucial for the researchers to monitor the verbal and nonverbal expressions from the coaches, being interviewed. Baltzell et al. used audiotaping and transcribing techniques, ensuring interviewer reliability when conducting their study. I believe video or audio taping my interviewees provided the most reliable data. I scheduled the interview session to last at least 1 hour. A 1 hour initial interview session provided ample enough data to represent an organization's experience of the phenomenon. I was the primary transcriber of the interview recordings. A 45-minute interview recording session could yield up to 30 pages of transcribed information (Sutton & Austin, 2015). Using the time and page count estimate from Sutton and Austin study, my interviews should yield approximately 40 to 45 pages transcribed information.

At the beginning of the data collection process, each organization's IT manager was sent an invitation letter requesting their participation in the study. After acceptance of the offer, interviewees were sent consent forms and copies of the interview questions. The interview session took place online. An interview session was scheduled for appropriately 1 hour. At a minimum, interviewees were presented with a copy of the interview questions, for submitting their written answers and additional comments as necessary. The interview began with an introduction of the intent of the study, protocol administrative announcements, review of the consent form, and the opportunity to decline continuation of the interview. The researcher recorded the session with an online recording system, based on organization's policies, permission, and availability. At the end of the interviewing session, the interviewee had the opportunity to provide immediate feedback. The recording was made available for review at the end of the session.

Conducting in-depth face to face interviews provides the advantage of making a more personal connection with the interviewee. The interviewer can better determine if the questions were understood or fully answered, by observing both verbal inflections and non-verbal gestures by the interviewee. Researchers can use face to face interview sessions to generate casual conversations, building trust in the interviewee (Pinsky, 2015). Holmberg et al. (2014) research findings indicated that interviewees appreciated the opportunity to interact with the interviewer, rather than answering the questions without the ability to verbally express themselves. Comi et al. (2014) study shows the

possibility of including visual technique into qualitative interviews, to gain a better insight into feelings about organizational change.

The most obvious disadvantage to doing an in-depth face to face interview is the fact that interviewees may not feel comfortable being interviewed. Bourne and Robson (2015) study inquiring on interviewing techniques for studies addressing sexual behavior demonstrated that participants feared judgment by the interviewer, even though their session data would be kept under strict confidence. Recording the interview session could discourage potential participants (Killawi et al., 2014). Online surveys and other anonymous methods of feedback allows interviewees to answer questions more freely, without being judged by the interviewer and observing their nonverbal gestures (Bowden & Galindo-Gonzalez, 2015). Another potential disadvantage of face-to-face semistructured interviews, is the possibility of the researcher imposing their ideas and limiting the personal insight or initiative of the interviewee (Rimando et al., 2015). As stated above, conducting a pilot study would reduce time spent on the actual study and reduce the available population for the final study interviews. Therefore, a pilot study was not requested or conducted.

I used member checking to enhance the richness of data collected and gain data saturation. Member checking of the notes and recording allows for confirmation of translated information (Harvey, 2015). Caretta (2016) used a pamphlet in her study to conduct member checking, which is one example of checking preliminary findings with informants. After initial and final drafts of the transcript were completed, I scheduled another interview session to conduct member checking with each interviewee. Each interviewee was provided the opportunity to review and comment on the validity of the interpretation of their statements, which they made during their initial interview session. Member checking of the initial and consequential interview sessions provides the opportunity for immediate verification of the content (Birt et al., 2016). Once all the updates are verified and the interviewees were satisfied with their transcribed statement, data saturation was meet from that interviewees.

As a part of the data collection process, I collected any available documents, secondary data, and existing organizational empirical data, for the organization. To harvest the additional documents, secondary data, and empirical data, I requested access to documentations used in their implementation of their chip-and-PIN solution. Documents and data which I requested were; strategic plans, project charters, project management plans, technical working group meeting minutes, change advisory board formal decisions, decision briefing, test and evaluation results, and administrative data associated with their chip-and-PIN implementation. Email messages request and file transfer exchanges were the primary techniques used to get the additional documents and secondary data. I established an electronic journal to record documents, data files, and any other media provided as artifacts for the study. One possible disadvantage, to using this method to obtain paper-only document, was in the event that the organization does not want to send the documents by mail. In such a case, an on premises face-to-face interviewing session would have been necessary.

Data Organization Techniques

The data organization process was completed using both paper, and electronic data formats, supporting a logical thematic data analysis process. The initial process started with the storing of electronic logs and matrices, consisting of literature review, research questions, and drafts sections of research study. All paper documentation, notes, and other non computerized information media were converted into a data format accessible by computers and capable for coding. After conversion to an electronic format those documents were archived in a lockable fire safe cabinet. Electronic filing and data storage provide convenient means to quickly develop, record, index, and manipulate research data (Khan, 2014). Digital data was easy to copy and manipulate, allowing more innovative method to analyze research studies (Childs et al., 2014). DeFelice and Janesick (2015) used Call Graph and Audacity applications to record and quickly edit the recording of their interview sessions, demonstrating the value of using electronic applications and tools to organize their study data. I used Nvivo software. The next data organization steps were recording and saving the interview sessions, using a voice recorder and taking notes. I used a journal to documents any extraneous or miscellaneous field notes. I used an online collaboration recording tools and Nvivo software programs to record, extract, and transcribed participant's answers. The recordings were saved to an external hard drive for storage and review. Appropriate folders were created on the hard drive to protect against data spillage or compromise of coded information. I used computerized software programs, Nvivo and Microsoft Excel, to code the transcribed data of each interviewee's response to questions. I established a coding system to protect

the privacy of the participating organizations. Protecting participants, by masking their identity is an essential requirement in qualitative analysis (Fielding et al., 2013). Coded research information can be indexed and classified, to support the research's main themes (Pierre & Jackson, 2014). Coded information presented in Microsoft Excel spreadsheets can be put through a rigorous and accelerated data reduction technique, increasing the efficiency of the data analysis (Watkins, 2017). During the evaluation of the appropriate software to conduct coding and analysis, NVivo software was taken into consideration. Consider easy to use, researchers can collect, organize, and analyze various types of research data with NVivo software (Castleberry, 2014). In comparison to other software analyzing tools, NVivo requires more interactions from the researcher in the analysis process (Sotiriadou et a., 2014). Zamawe (2015) used NVivo software in his study to edit the recording of both video and audio files. NVivo software is considered reliable and often used for thematic analysis (Derobertmasure & Robertson, 2014). Given the ease of use with Microsoft Excel spreadsheets in comparison with the required addition interactions from the researcher in the NVivo software analysis process, Microsoft Excel spreadsheets was initially used for this study. However, Nvivo was used to refine the coding and selection of emerging themes.

The coding of information was an iterative process, requiring the continuous organization of coded revisions of interview transcripts. To preserve the integrity of the research study and the ability to defend the research's findings, information, and data pertinent to the study must be protected. In addition to the coding process, I implemented physical security of paper documents and data files, created during the study processes.

These security measures are mandatory ethical compliance requirements under IRB approval (Wolf et al., 2015). Research institutions have formalized protocols for the ethical treatment of research participants (Greenwood, 2016). Interviews, notes, and recordings produce detailed data on participants that may present risks to them (Jordan & Gray, 2014). Documents were maintained in a folder labeled with the appropriate confidential and privacy designations. In addition, paper documents were scanned into electronic format and afterward destroyed, as a precautionary measure. Electronic data was stored on an external hard drive. All documents and data collected during the research study will be stored in a locked container for 5 years.

Data Analysis Technique

I used a thematic data analysis process to explore the themes found within the datasets created from the interviewing sessions with participants. A TA method is an effective qualitative research data analysis design, used to focus on gathering the experience of the participant of the study, subjectively (Firmin et al., 2016). Fugard-Pratt and Potts (2015) findings indicated that the thematic analysis is appropriate for research studies conducted with multiple participants. My research study involves multiple participants and aligned with the methods used in Fugard-Pratt and Potts study. Conducting several iterations of the thematic analysis process perfected the quality of data analysis within my study. In Kissil and Nino (2017) study, several reiterations of the thematic analysis process allowed me to efficiently code, categories, assess, and compare the data patterns and themes within the study.

Using TA, I reviewed the recorded semi structured interview sessions consisting of 11 open-ended questions. Semistructured interviews allowed the interviewee the ability to request further clarification and reflect on any additional ideas they may have brought up themselves during the interview (Drew, 2014). I used online collaboration tools and Nvivo software programs to download and transcribed the participant's answers. Post-coding analysis is the process of linking themes within the data to theories (Pierre & Jackson, 2014). I analyzed the transcribed and coded data, produced by NVivo and Microsoft Excel software programs. By applying the six phase thematic analysis method Caton and Chapman (2016) were able to overcome the complexity and challenges to determining their emerging themes. In their study, Caton and Chapman were able to establish major themes from their research data, using the thematic analysis method. I analyzed patterns and developed themes found within the coded data. I applied the six phases of the thematic analysis process: becoming familiar with the data, generating initial codes, searching for themes, reviewing themes, defining and naming themes, and producing the report. These steps and expected results are listed in Table 2.

Table 2

Phase	Description	Result	
1	Becoming familiar with the data	Preliminary understanding of	
		answers/data and patterns	
2	Generating initial codes	Create, define, and defend coding	
		methodology	
3	Searching for themes	Develop list of possible themes from	
		coded data patterns	
4	Reviewing themes	Validate accurate themes from specific	
		data patterns	
5	Defining and naming themes	Finalize themes and explain correlation	
		to research problem	
6	Producing the report	Final report and interpretation of results	
		of data analysis	

Thematic analysis process

I used the results from the thematic analysis process to define and align the final data themes with the three main elements of the research's conceptual framework. A thematic approach produces a leaner set of measurable facts, by reducing the excessive context collected during the interview (Kerwin-Boudreau & Butler-Kisber, 2016).

I used a methodological triangulation process, to ensure rigor within the study. Three different data collection processes provided the expected rigor. Ponterotto (2014) insisted that triangulation of both data sources and research methods are principal elements to the iterative research process. Brown et al. (2015) used triangulation to bring rigor into their mixed method study of nine dimensions, with 107 participants. Triangulation is an effective method to validate the most convincing research findings, for multiple types of research designs (Modell, 2015).

After using triangulation to compare the datasets collection analysis, I aligned the major emerging themes with the elements in the conceptual framework. Using a framework assist the researchers with organizing data analysis in a format to intelligently present the findings (Green, 2014). I compared and contrasted the data analysis result with the three applicable diffusion of innovation theory levels: decision, implementation, and confirmation. The innovation diffusion theory is an optimal framework to address emerging technology (Cegielski et al., 2013). Using the TA method, I analyzed patterns within each theme. I contrasted and compared the elements supporting each theme against the three major themes: decision, implementation, and confirmation. I categorized the multiple themes into one of the three major themes. The final comparison of themes provided insight on the strategies used in each organization, to implementation chip-and-PIN technology. In the final analysis stage, the ability to effectively classify and interpret the emerging patterns enhanced the ability to compare the resulting themes with the phenomenon related to the purpose of the research study.

Reliability and Validity

Reliability and validity are essential criteria to establish trustworthiness in academic research (Olson et al., 2016). Reliability relates to the consistency of a measure. Reliability is achieved when the same responses occur each time the test is completed (Faris, 2017). Validity is the methodologies and processes used to determine the final conclusion of a study's measurement are aligned with its inference. Validity in qualitative studies is measured using four criteria: dependability, credibility, transferability, and confirmability. Validity ensures that the findings are applicable to other similar case studies (Baskarada, 2014). In my qualitative pragmatic inquiry, I employed the four validity criteria to perfect the rigor and trustworthiness of my study.

Dependability

The trustworthiness of the content within a research study is critical to the acceptance of the findings and potential implications for affecting change. Dependability is an important aspect to supporting validity, ensuring confidence about the findings of the research (Flower et al., 2016). I documented my research processes, maintain field notes, and audit logs to provide dependability to this research study. Member checking is an enabling approach to establishing triangulations of data and dependability of findings (Birt et al., 2016). Participants, of the study, were given the opportunity to validate their input, by reviewing their transcripts for errors or misunderstanding. Researchers and participants must come to a consensus on the interpretation of the data to validate the integrity of the outcome (Noble & Smith, 2015). Member checking establishes dependability by showing an external validity of the researcher's interpretation of the participant's experience. I used member checking to ensure participants interview information is accurately transcribed. Morse (2015) insisted that using iterative credibility practices; peer debriefings, member checking, and triangulation, support the

overall dependability of the study. Readers must feel the information in the research is dependable and peer reviewed, by subject matters experts in the field.

Creditability

Validation of information in a research study will be established using credible data collection and data analysis techniques. Credibility is shown when the methods used to gain and verify the research information is trustworthy (Boesch et al., 2013). I followed the participant recruiting and interviewing protocol, ensuring each participant is a qualified subject matter expert and given the full opportunity to answer each question to the fullest extent. Interviewing a group of subject matter experts is the best way to gather information and build credibility, to support a research topic (Sutton, & Arnold, 2013). In addition, having extensive experience in a particular field will make it more difficult for researchers to not engage in biases. I used coding as a method to reduces my potential bias and influence on the analysis of the data collected. Member checking and conducting an audit trail are essential elements to reduce bias and distortion of the study findings (Lub, 2015). Developing an effective coding system and using it when interpreting the collected data will assist in limiting the personal bias from the researcher (Sutton & Austin, 2015). I used member checking to assist with achieving creditability.

Transferability

The validity of a research study includes the ability to use the methods of the study to benefit further studies. I included the extensive information, background, data collection methods, and analysis technique to facilitate transferability of the study's findings. Transferability provides readers with descriptions of context and background of the research study data (Hoyland et al., 2017). Transparency of the content, participants, and data analysis rigor equates to transferability (Connelly, 2016). I defined and described the methods and design used for conducting the research; conceptual frameworks, protocols, and data analysis techniques. Aligning the theory and conceptual framework of the study with the findings makes the study more transferable to other studies (Colorafi & Evans, 2016; Reilly, 2013). To ensure transferability of the themes, concepts, processes, and finding within this study, the interview techniques, questions, data coding, and analysis will be designed in formats and a framework applicable for use in other research topics. In this study, I used proven processes, methodologies, theoretical and conceptual frameworks such as; DOI theory, protocol and IPR process, and thematic analysis method.

Confirmability

A quality research study is developed from factual data and free from bias. Research findings which contradict the values of the researcher might suffer from personal and selective citation bias. Confirmability methods are used to ensure the research study and findings are not affected by potential bias by the researcher (Kornbluh, 2015). Triangulation of multiple data sources can provide other perspectives and remove bias from the researcher (Olson et al., 2016). In contrast to the standard validity framework used in a quantitative study, qualitative research is not based on traditional criteria for judging validity using variables and independent variables. Therefore, confirmability in a qualitative study requires the study to be confirmable by and external party. When conducting qualitative research external validity is of utmost importance (Safarnejad et al., 2018). Confirmability of a research study is established when credibility, transferability, and dependability are all achieved (Mavhandu-Mudzusi, 2018). Conducting processes; member checking of interview transcriptions, transcript reviews, documenting the check and rechecking process, keeping audit logs, obtaining peer review, and triangulation will satisfy confirmability in the research study (Lub, 2015).

An effective research study must convince the reader that a sufficient amount of data was gathered and analyzed to produce reliable findings. To ensure data saturation, a larger number of invitations were extended to potential population audience, than is required for the maximum participation of interviewees. Fusch and Ness (2015) recommends researchers consider more people than normally expected to reach data saturation. I made sure all research questions were completely answered during the interviewing sessions. Data saturation can be considered met when further data collection and analysis yield little or no change to possible outcome (Constantinou et al., 2017). Ferreira et al. (2015) study on ethical consideration for conducting research emphasizes the point of data saturation, where the value of the data collected does not out weight the possible harm to participants. Saturation is a tool used to complete the data collected to support the study (Reilly, 2013). I refined the data collected from interviewing sessions with additional member checking interview sessions, ensuring data saturation. I exhausted all data collection efforts, until there is no longer any new information to benefit the study.

Transition and Summary

In section 2, I presented detail descriptions of the purpose, design, literature review, and information processing techniques contained within the project of the doctoral research study. The roles of the researcher, study's participants, and ethical parameters were defined in this section. The conceptual framework, data collection, and data management techniques methods were outlined in detail, to establish reliability and validity in the research study. In the next section, I discussed the final analysis and summary of the findings of the research. The discussions will include: a documented comprehensive review of the data findings, a final comparison of the content against the applicable conceptual framework, and a summary of the findings as they relate to the application in professional practice, potential for improvement in social change, and suggestion for implementing the recommended actions. Then, I made final closing comments on; recommendations for further research, the impact the study has on the researchers, social change, and concluding message.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

Overview of Study

The purpose of this qualitative pragmatic study was to explore strategies used by IT managers to transition their e-commerce organizations to chip-and-PIN credit card authentication infrastructures. Data were collected from semi structured interviews with IT managers with 16 to 35 years of IT experience in e-commerce organizations located within the United States who shared their experience in developing and implementing strategies in chip-and-PIN credit card authentication infrastructure technology. My goal was to explore in-depth the strategies and transition events of IT managers. To protect their privacy, each participant was coded as a number preceded by the letter P. To achieve data saturation and data integrity, I used the triangulation methodology with publicly available data, journal notes, and existing organization documentation in addition to the participants' interview responses. Using the TA process, I analyzed patterns and discovered the major emerging themes: that a successful implementation strategy is required; the development and buy-in of critical elements defining the business needs and scope within the organization, attaining PCI DSS regulatory compliance; and confirming the value to the business and customer experience. The findings were in alignment with the DOI conceptual framework used in the study. The summary of the emergent themes and findings in the study supported by current, peer-reviewed literature resulted in the following presentation of findings.

Presentation of Findings

The research question guiding this study was: What strategies are used by IT managers to transition their organizations to chip-and-PIN credit card authentication infrastructures? My goal with this research question was to identify strategies that IT managers use to efficiently transition their e-commerce organizations to a chip-and-PIN credit card authentication platforms. In this subsection, I discuss the emerging themes, their alignment with the conceptual framework, and the current literature supporting the findings. From analyzing the data collected for the study, the following three major themes emerged from all participants that were further supported by the associated minor themes: (a) elements influencing the appropriate selection of strategy, (b) implementation of PCI DSS regulatory compliance, and (c) value to business and customer experience.

Theme 1: Elements Influencing the Appropriate Selection of Strategy

Elements influencing the appropriate selection of strategy was the foremost theme indicated in the data. Five of the six participants stated that the key to having a successful strategy was to determine the scope of the problem: business need, security risk, technology gap, current resources, available funding, and completion timeline. P6's views were in agreement with the other five participant statement but communicated that his organization was more of an earlier adopter of technology despite other influencing elements. Given that most projects would have the same generic elements in developing a strategy, I decided to do a more granular analysis of the unique elements particular to their chip-and-PIN credit card authentication infrastructures strategy. From further analysis, I was able to identify four minor themes more applicable to the research question. The minor themes were fraud and liability cost, increased credit card security, regulatory compliance, and modernization of POS systems.

Fraud and the cost to recover from incidents was one of the most important elements considered in determining the right strategy. Four of the five participants stated that informing and providing statistics about fraud and its cost was effective to get stakeholder buy-in from the C-suite decision makers. P4 stated that "it is unfortunate but, communicating fear of fraud and liability cost was a very effective way to persuade stakeholder buy-in within my organization."

Improving credit card security was a consistent and required element addressed in the data and was requested as a requirement by the IT security departments in most organizations. Any efforts to reduce vulnerabilities to the security posture of the organization were a critical element of the strategy.

Regulatory compliance was another important element for organizations to include in their strategy. Implementing a chip-and-PIN credit card authentication infrastructure would improve security; however, it was mandatory for organizations to meet the PCI DSS regulatory compliance. In addition, meeting the compliance would reduce the liability to the organization should credit card fraud occur during their sale transactions. Explaining the benefits of being in PCI compliance was an effective communication strategy and a critical strategy element when persuading stakeholders on the benefits of chip-and-PIN credit card authentication infrastructures.

The modernization of POS systems was another element critical to the strategy. In the larger organization, this element was important; however, it was not seen as such a big challenge and was expected as part of their strategy. For the smaller organizations, modernization of their POS systems was an element that could determine the survivability of their company. Their noncompliance could result in fees and potential liability costs of fraud incidents.

All participants made multiple references to the individual elements these minor themes because they affected their organization and strategy (see Table 3 for frequency of themes). Overall, all six participants indicated the importance of validating, communicating, and getting buy-in on all the minor elements, resulting in a comprehensive and inclusive strategy.

Table 3

Thematic category: persuasion & decision	п	References	Documents
Fraud & liability cost	6	23	2
Increased credit card security Regulatory compliance	6 6	35 32	3 3
Modernization of point-of-sales system	2	16	1

Frequency of First Major Themes: Elements Influencing the Appropriate Selection of Strategy

There is current literature supporting the major theme elements influencing the appropriate selection of strategy. Understanding the scope and risk of the requirement is a step organization must use to start the strategy development process. Managers in the current study employed various strategies to communicate the security and liability cost risks to their organizations. It is important to understand the impact of cybercrime to stakeholders and provide them with adequate information on the methods for practical

applications to protect credit card users (Arief & Adzmi, 2015). Understanding the security requirements of the new product helps with the development of a process and search for business dependencies in the collaborative innovation strategy (Chung, 2020).

Fraud and the cost to recover from incidents were two of the most important elements that were used in the strategy to gain stakeholder buy-in. Some businesses do not understand IT security and do not adhere to good security practices (Clapper, & Richmond 2016). Some retailers have not fully converted to the full implementation, forcing customers to use the older magnetic strip methods to authenticate their purchases (Bush, 2016). Organizations implementing chip-and-PIN solutions must meet the PCI DSS (2018) regulatory compliance mandates that apply to all system components included in or connected to the cardholder data environment.

The modernization of POS systems was critical to advance the strategy. In some instances, the modernization strategy and costs, include platform systems and hardware that is not only dedicated to the POS systems. Network components, including, but not limited to, firewalls, switches, routers, wireless access points, network appliances, and other security appliances (PCI DSS, 2018). Small businesses with limited funds, datacenter infrastructures, and network bandwidth connections may not be able to gain PCI compliance. Small-scale organizations often lack adequate capacity and resources to evaluate, learn, establish, and set aside finances to cater for uncertainty of the technology in future (Taha et al., 2018). The recent literature aligns with the findings of this study and confirms the need to establish elements influencing the appropriate selection of strategy.

The process of validating, communicating, and getting stakeholder buy-in on all critical elements in the selected strategy also aligns with the conceptual framework of this study. The IDT provides tools to determine the factors, uncertainty, resistance, and rate of diffusion of a technology (Zsifkovits & Gunther, 2015). The DOI theory provides a framework representative of the types of users commonly found throughout the world regardless of economic status and allows for a structured analysis of constructs affecting the decision to adopt an innovation or technology (Shaw et al., 2022). In the first three phases of the DOI theory, Rogers (2003) prescribed the need to make known the conditions, needs, characteristics, and desired outcome when studying the effect of an innovation and its acceptability by society. Leite (2022) confirmed that innovation is driven by the activities of searching, acting, and convincing actors of an opportunity to develop innovative solutions. My analysis and identification of the elements influencing the appropriate selection of a strategy are aligned with the first three phases (i.e., awareness, persuasion, and decision) in the innovation-decision process. Leite found convincing was present in every phase of the innovation. However, the findings in the current study indicate that persuasion was mostly used in the activities to gain a decision on the final selected strategy. Leite found it necessary to convince others about the idea and, therefore, encourage them to collaborate, convincing others to talk positively about the project after the implementation phase, such as the public officials and the local and international media. Zhang et al. (2017) emphasized the importance of each stakeholder and their efforts to bring about IT innovation acceptance within their organization. Participants in the current study used the individual elements to inform stakeholders of

the potential fraud, liability cost, regulatory noncompliance fees, credit card security risks, and technology gaps in their POS system to gain a viable implementation strategy. The appropriate understanding of the threats and an organizational commitment to security have a significant and positive influence on users' intention to comply with corporate security policies (Forsyth, 2020). In the literature, Coodarzi et al. (2021) confirmed that providing information on environmental technologies help potential adopters overcome some of the barriers against eco-friendly options, such as their higher cost or inferior aesthetics.

The trustworthiness of information sources plays a significant in developing the best strategy. Innovation stems from a knowledge recombination of prior discoveries and applications, and the individual capacity to search for knowledge over both familiar and unfamiliar technological domains is also likely shaping fundamental processes in creativity, problem solving, and innovation within organizations (Van Knippenberg et al., 2015). These elements supported the data analysis showing the emerging minor and major themes. The minor themes from the data analysis show how participants informed and persuaded their e-commerce organization to make a decision favorable to implement chip-and-PIN credit card authentication infrastructures.

Diffusion is a method of communicating new ideas to people in a social system (Scott & McGuire, 2017). Therefore, the DOI theory aligns with and confirms why the identification of elements influencing the appropriate selection of a strategy is fundamental to a successful implementation strategy.

Theme 2: Implement PCI DSS Regulatory Compliance

Implementing PCI DSS regulatory compliance was the most prominent major theme. All six participants summarized the main reason for their strategy was to meet PCI DSS regulatory compliance. PCI standards are mandated by the card brands, and the administration and development of standards are managed by the Payment Card Industry Security Standards Council (PCI DSS, 2018). The standards were created to protect cardholder data and to reduce credit card fraud. The PCI DSS's goal is to protect cardholder data wherever it is processed, stored, or transmitted (Nagar et al., 2021). P5 indicated PCI DSS regulatory compliance as the number one reason for his organization to support the strategy and expedient implementation of chip-and-PIN credit card solutions. Despite the high number of references to fraud by P1, P2, P3, P4 and P5, the most important factor was to be in compliance with PCI DSS standards. When an ecommerce organization is PCI DSS compliant, the liability for the fraud incident is placed on the card issuer (Clapper & Richmond, 2016). The e-commerce organization must ensure their POS systems is capable of accepting and conducting the chip-an-PIN transaction. Once the e-commerce organization has passed the PCI DSS attestation, they are relieved of the liability from fraudulent activities committed with a chip-enabled transaction. The bank that issued the credit card is responsible for ensuring the user of the card is validated by the chip-and-PIN POS transaction. The reduction in liability cost is a major motivator for organizations to implement the more secure transaction.

The implementation of PCI DSS regulatory compliance theme was further supported with four minor themes emerging from the data analysis: investment cost, internal implementation, external outsource implementation, and modernization of POS system (see Table 4 for frequency of themes). Three of the six participants stated that investment cost was not much of a factor after getting stakeholder buy-in. P5 indicated that a thorough research of the equipment and technical support provider is critical to the success and maintenance of the final solution. P5 stated that he has witnessed other agencies trying to implement cheap and minimum standard solutions that failed and ended up costing more at the end. P3 stated that "sometimes it is frustrating because you show them the security risks and cost to other organizations to recover from their incident/breach and they still don't do it because they think it cost too much." Once again, investment cost was an issue for some of the smaller organizations with limited capital spending.

When analyzing the data in reference to internal or external outsourcing implementation strategies, two of the six participants insisted that their strategy would be implemented internally. The other four participants recommended that the implementation be outsourced to consultants and subject matter experts certified to in the PCI DSS skillsets. P4 recommended that organizations who plan on using internal staff to do the implementation should bring in consultants and POS system vendors to train their internal staff first. Dobrosielski (2019) insisted that focusing on people, calling them a human firewall and the most valuable asset in protecting against fraud, should be the main priority in implementations of security solutions.

Another important benefit from achieving PCI DSS regulatory compliance is the requirement to upgrade from outdated POS equipment and systems that do not meet the

minimum data security standards. Modernization of POS systems was another minor theme the emerged from the analysis of the data. As organizations started to understand the requirements outlined in the PCI DSS regulatory compliance, it became apparent that their current POS systems needed to be upgraded or updated, depending on the age of their systems. Some organizations were fortunate and only required software updates, while other organizations' hardware and software both required total replacement.

As significant as implementing PCI DSS regulatory compliance is to a successful strategy, four of the six participants did not initially come to that conclusion until they reflected on and summarized their interview sessions. The analysis of the data and minor themes indicated PCI DSS regulatory compliance was a major theme, if not the most important theme.

Table 4

Thematic Category: Implementation	п	References	Documents
Investment cost	6	21	1
Internal implementation strategy	5	8	1
Outsourced implementation strategy	4	4	0
Modernization of point-of-sales system	6	16	1
Meeting regulatory compliance	6	32	2

Frequency of Second Major Themes: Implement PCI DSS Regulatory Compliance

The literature supports the theme that ecommerce organization should implement PCI DSS regulatory compliance. In 2018, the number of such chip-authenticated card payments reached 48.8 billion, a substantial increase from the 1.4 billion in-person chip-

authenticated card payments in 2015 and larger than the 37.3 billion in-person card payments without chip authentication in 2018 (Gerdes et al., 2019). Organizations without a successful chip-and PIN POS system is at a higher risk to be liable for fraudulent credit card activities. The primary benefit of complying with PCI DSS is the reduction in risk associated with a data breach (Clapper & Richmond, 2016). Implementing the PCI DSS required organizations to invest into new authentications capabilities to enable chip-and-PIN multifactor authentication. Standardization bodies like the National Institute of Standards and Technology and payment card industry have proposed a set of guidelines concerning the digital identity management through (Sinigaglia et al., 2020). Organization seeking PCI DSS regulatory compliance must be assessed by a third party evaluator certified to conduct PCI assessment. Security compliance practices ensures organizations are adhering to established security controls (Choi et al., 2018). At least annually and prior to the annual assessment, the assessed entity should confirm the accuracy of their PCI DSS scope by identifying all locations and flows of cardholder data, and identify all systems that are connected to or, if compromised, could impact the data loss (Payment Card Industry Security Standard Council, 2018). Organization should upgrade their outdated POS equipment and systems, which no longer meet the minimum data security standards. Websites are one of the avenues hackers use to harvest and extract customer's PII and financial data. Ecommerce merchants who must be compliant with the PCI DSS can use an approved scanning vendors to automatically certify that their websites meet some parts of the PCI DSS (Kellogg et al., 2020). Increased use of either chips or PINs separately can increase

the security of card payments, while the use of a chip and PIN together can further reduce the risk of third-party payments fraud (Gerdes et al., 2019).

The implement PCI DSS regulatory compliance theme aligns well with the DOI theory conceptual framework. The phases of the innovation diffusion process assist in identifying roles; innovator, adopters and, intermediaries essential to applying the technology (Caiazza & Volpe, 2017). The fourth phase in the DOI theory is the implementation phase, which directly coincides with the second emerging major theme from the data collected within my study. Utilizing the innovation-decision process, the next logical step is to implement the strategy for the expected outcome. Regulatory collaborations are valuable, in that they aid organizational compliance with regulatory enforcement actions (Desai, 2016). To document the goals of the research questions, participants were asked to provided data describing the implementation of their strategies. Six out of six participants summarized the main reason for their implementation strategy was to meet the PCI DSS regulatory compliance. The current literature and conceptual framework confirm that implementing PCI DSS regulatory compliance is an integral part to implementing a successful chip-and-PIN credit card authentication infrastructure.

Theme 3: Value to the Business and Customer Experience

The third major theme that emerged from the data analysis was the value to the business and customer experience. This major theme was derived from the data analysis of four minor emerging themes. The minor themes were customer usage and satisfaction, improved credit card payment process, meet regulatory compliance, and modernized POS system (see Table 5). Five out of six participants indicted that the value to the business was more associated with the fiduciary return on investment, either short or long term. Their C-suite leader's biggest concern was how soon would the cost of the chip-and-PIN implementation be recuperated and how to measure the expected return on investment. P2, P3, P4, and P5 indicated the internal IT staff had a different view of valuing return on investment. The IT staff understood the hours and tasks involved in remediating fraudulent incidents and preventing breaches without the increased security option of chip-and-PIN infrastructure. The IT staff were also concerned about the addition efforts and cost to maintain the older and failing systems. For them, a modernized POS system was the confirmation they expected, considering that as a true and tangible business value. All six participant did acknowledge that a major fraud incident or breach would be detrimental for their organization's brand and name, causing potential business devaluation. When addressing business value, P6 provided a totally different aspect and view. P6 stated that customer loyalty and brand name recognition was how they measured value. Giving customers the best experience was most important to their company. Value to the customer experience was another part of the third major theme. It is important to point out that the participants had a variety of views on this data point. The first observation was the definition of customer. Some participants only consider the external customer requesting services or goods from their organization. Concern from a customer service perspective was whether, the customer will use the new chip-and-PIN POS systems, the authentication process would increase the time customers needed at the POS systems for checking out, and the remedy if the customer doesn't remember their PIN. Based on the data analysis, those concerns were easily confirmed. P5 was the only

responded that stated that the customer's increase transaction wait times for completing transactions were slightly noticeable, if at all, were in very larger retail stores or small businesses with limited network bandwidth connections. P5 and P4 expressed a different view of customers. They considered internal stakeholders as customers. For example, they consider the cashiers at the POS to be important internal customer. Cashier were the organizations representative to the external customer. The cashier would need to assist the customer with any problem associated with the sales transaction, including potential chip-and-PIN errors. They need to be trained on customer the support aspect of the chip-and-PIN POS systems. Another internal customer was the IT security staff. The implementation of the new system should increase the security posture within the organization and reduce the workload of the IT security staff.

Table 5

Frequency of Third Major Themes: Value to the Business and Customer Experience

Thematic category: confirmation	n	References	Documents	
Modernized point-of-sales system	6	16	0	
Customer usage and satisfaction	6	32	1	
Meet regulatory compliance	6	32	3	
Improved IT security posture	6	35	2	

The recent literature supports the emerging value to the business and customer experience theme. IT enables an easy and extensive matching that facilitates the creation of value and the rapid development of the phenomenon or innovation (Frey et al., 2019). A firm's IT use for knowledge search strengthens internal innovation benefits, which, in turn, lead to an improvement of innovation performance (Hensen & Dong, 2020). Welldeveloped IT strategies and IT investments increased the performance of an organization (Mithas & Rust, 2016). Based on the ability to expose innovation and critical characteristic, Shree et al. (2021) used DOI and Technology-Organization-Environment framework to identify and measure the contributing factors for adoption of digital platforms in business to business organizations. Value to the business is often focus on what is the immediate return on investment, instead of the long-term value the innovation can bring to society. Legal, economic, technical, and cultural barriers degrade the process of diffusion (Caiazza, 2016). Too often, IT innovation incentives are not sufficiently strong because organizations see limited benefits in the adoption of new IT relative to its cost (Zweifel, 2021). C-suite leaders can hinder the implementation of required security innovation because of not understanding or relating it to the long-term business value. Vuori and Huy (2016) study showed managers were afraid of external competitors and shareholders, while middle managers were mainly afraid of internal groups, including superiors and peers. Although there may be a high initial investment cost to implementing a chip-and-PIN POS systems, managers must communicate the benefits and long-term business value to financier and executive board members. Firms that want to achieve a competitive advantage based on their IT resources have also learned to effectively combine their IT resources in order to create overarching goals (Wiesbock et al., 2020). Although there may be a high initial investment cost to implementing a chipand-PIN point-of-sales systems, managers must communicate the benefits and long-term business value to financier and executive board members. When implementing innovation, managers are key decision makers and should champion innovation to drive

positive business value. Vuori and Huy indicated that shared emotions can hinder the subsequent integration of attention, influencing innovation processes and outcomes and resulting in temporal myopia—a focus on short-term product innovation at the expense of long-term innovation development. Wan and Zhang (2014) argued managerial steps can lessen concerns about "cheap talk" and the limitations of mere words to repair trust after a violation or incident. Value to the customer experience is an important factor in the implementation of new technology innovation. Jamshidi and Hussin's (2016) finding showed the alignment of customer satisfaction with services has a noticeable final impact on social influence. The potential adopters are inclined to gather information before purchasing, which corresponds to the knowledge and persuasion stages in the innovation diffusion model (Zhang et al, 2022). Credit card information and habits of consumer's usage are maintained in databases, presenting increased risk to customer privacy (West & Bhattacharya, 2016). Customer must feel comfortable using payment card systems and trust that the ecommerce organization is protecting consumer data privacy. Customer will share their experience with others, impacting on overall social influence. Information sources have several effects on sustainable behavior and the adoption of environmental technologies by users (Goodarzi et al., 2021). Improved security in credit card payment processes is a value to the customer experience. EMV transactions at chip POS terminals provide more security of consumers' personal data than magnetic strip POS transactions. In addition, EMV card transactions transmit data between the merchant and the issuing bank with a special code that is unique to each individual transaction (Federal Bureau of Investigation, 2015). Value to the business and customer experience requires all members

of the organization to be engaged with the innovation. In some cases, it requires a major organizational culture change. There is a crucial need to continue analyzing human aspects in information security, because technology alone cannot deliver complete security solutions (Ashish et al., 2017). A successful of PCI DSS implementation depends on the capability of the organization's information security in providing the effective safeguard of their information asset, while cardholder data security is the main concern (Yulianto et al., 2016). As P4 stated in the interview sessions, "you should always look at it from the customers point of view." The recent literature aligns with the findings of the data analysis and confirms the value to the business and customer experience theme.

The theme value to business and customer experience aligns with the conceptual framework. Evaluating the value to these two main constructs is a method to confirm that the implemented innovation is being used and customers are satisfied with the solution. The fifth phase of Roger's (2003) DOI theory is confirmation. The phase in the diffusion of innovation process where expected outcome of the innovation is validated and confirmed, either as accepted or rejected. Stages in the theory were effective in measuring the status of organizations and adopters within the innovation network (Valente et al., 2015). The measure of an adequate level of protection is an indicator of the cybersecurity awareness aspects of an organization's business processes in the short, medium, and long term (Sulistyowati et al., 2020). In their study of collaboration networks, team communication dynamics, and diffusion of education in the process, Woodland et al. (2021) found the diffusion of innovation theory was effective in
measuring team's innovation adaptation and educational diffusion within the social network analysis. When asked to of the status of their chip-and- PIN implementation, all six participants in the study stated they were able to successfully implement chip-and-PIN credit card authentication infrastructures within their ecommerce organizations. In 2018, the number of such chip-authenticated card payments reached 48.8 billion, a substantial increase from the 1.4 billion in-person chip-authenticated card payments in 2015 and larger than the 37.3 billion in-person card payments without chip authentication in 2018 (Gerdes et al., 2019). The overall indication in the United States is trending favorable to the successful implementation of chip-and-PIN credit card authentication infrastructures within ecommerce organizations. Smith et al. (2018) implied that observability characteristic implies the perceived visibility of innovations to others. Successful innovation networks emerge not solely from a business goal, but also from a social goal and can still generate business opportunities for companies (Zhang et al., 2022). The measurement and confirmation of improvements in chip-and-PIN credit card implementation globally, within the United States and within the population of my study shows that the findings align well with the conceptual framework for this study. These findings confirm and provide evidence to the application of concepts found in existing literature and executed as best business IT practices, within ecommerce environments.

Application of Professional Practice

This study helps IT managers to better understand the complexity of innovation and the process connected to developing an effective chip-and-PIN credit card implementation strategy. The findings of the study inform IT managers on the ways

which they can garner leadership support and resources to implement successful credit card security measures. To prevent costly liabilities charges and harm to their brand names, organizations must improve their ecommerce infrastructure security posture, reduce credit card fraud, and protect consumer's PII. Consumers depend on organization to ensure their transactions and payments are conducted using the most secure technology. Implementation of PCI DSS regulatory compliance is a proven technology standard, which give all stakeholders trust in the payment process. The research study provided an informative set of findings to fill the IT knowledge gap for consumers, managers, and security professional required to implement and maintain chip-and-PIN credit card authentication infrastructures in their ecommerce organizations. IT managers have a baseline strategic roadmap they can build on, adjust to their unique requirement, and follow. The study provide strategies IT managers can use to improve the efficiency of their current payment system security processes and help to upgrade implemented legacy credit authentication technology. Organization leaders can use the study findings to establish key indicators for measuring the value to their business, workforce, and customer experience. Organization can use this study to communicate their efforts to secure consumers from fraud and efforts to implement a more secure cybersecurity postures for all stakeholders. Using the findings from this study, credit card users can be informed and make better credit card selections. Credit card issuing providers can use this study to advertise the benefits of their chip enabled credit cards, contrasting added security value against their competitors. In addition, the study's results can be used as an IT strategic template to efficiently transition other nations to the same credit card

authentication platform, securing both consumers utilizing credit cards and vendors providing services within the global e-commerce market.

Implication for Social Change

The outcome of the study will contribute to positive social change through the potential of protecting businesses and consumers from credit card fraud. Consumers using chipped credit cards will reduce the risks of credit card fraud and financial liability to merchants, resulting in lower administrative cost and fees levied against all stakeholders in the e-commerce process (Robertson, 2014). The study will help to inform individuals about the current status of the IT innovation processes of chip-and-PIN credit card authentication. Members in our society can use their increased IT knowledge to communicate, demand, and insist that businesses which they patronize, and their business partners increase credit card security with chip-and-PIN authentication infrastructures. Paying for services with the more secured chip-and-PIN credit cards will be safer when conducting business with local and international service providers. Once the chip-and-PIN credit cards authentication infrastructures are fielded throughout all financial and business institution globally, individuals traveling worldwide would have easier and safer access to their buying power, reducing their risks of potential credit card fraud. Informed credit card users, their vendors, and banking institutions will be on a more secured ecommerce security platform, reducing identity theft crimes committed within our society. Additionally, the study's results can be used as a strategic template to efficiently transition other nations to the same credit card authentication platform, securing both consumers utilizing credit cards and vendors providing services within the global ecommerce market. Securing the electronic exchange of funds conducted using chip-and-PIN authentication technology will reduce credit card fraud and crimes conducted within society.

Recommendations For Action

With the regulatory mandate to implement secure ecommerce credit card transaction authentication platforms, IT manager must develop and implement strategies to provide those secure and safe POS computing environments. As credit card fraud increases, consumers are losing confidence in the protection of their credit, PII and banking systems. They suffer financial loss and possible bankruptcy, as a victim of a credit card fraud/data breach. Organizations and their POS service providers are obligated to paid for the liability cost associated with credit repair and PII protection for those fraud victims, impacting the overall ecommerce system. These security threats are having a macroeconomic impact on the global payment card industry (Banka, 2017). The purpose of my study was to explore strategies used by IT managers to transition their e-commerce organizations to chip-and-PIN credit card authentication infrastructures. Findings from my study can provide IT managers with the strategies they lack to move forward with their implementation. I recommend the following actions on the part of IT managers:

1. IT managers should take inventory of their current credit card authentication infrastructures, systems, and platforms.

2. Identify the risks and gaps within their environments.

3. Compare their organization with elements required in the regulator compliance policies/guidelines.

4. Develop a scope, project charter, and strategy (use element or themes from the study findings).

5. Develop and present course of actions (COA) and cost estimates to decision maker within the organization, communicating the risk, cost, and strategy to get executive level sponsorship and business units stakeholder buy-in.

6. Seek internal of external resources to plan and conduct the implementation

7. Execute the implementation plan and confirm operational capabilities

8. Document execution, review, and conduct continuous improvement Although not an all-inclusive list, the action listed above address some of the major findings provided by the data collected and viewpoints of participants within the study.

Upon approval, I will provide a one to two page summary of my study and recommendations to the participants and their organizations. I plan to publish the findings of this research in academic and professional journals. I will present briefing and lectures on the findings of this study to ecommerce businesses, IT security forums, IT associations and technical symposiums. I will disseminate summaries of the findings to financial and cybersecurity professional groups on LinkedIn and similar networking platforms. I intend to share this study and findings with the cybersecurity, crime, fraud prevention, law enforcement community, and professional practice writ large.

Recommendation for Further Research

The literary review and findings from the study revealed several security and information body of knowledge gaps within the protection of e-commerce authentication platforms. There is a need for further research in the biometrics application to two factor authentication of credit card POS transactions. Two-factor authentication is a proven technology for securing IS. Combining biometrics technology as one element in the twofactor authentication process increases the security capability and complexity. Biometric authentication includes the use of; fingerprints, iris scans, face, and voice recognition (Martinovic, et al., 2017). PCI systems can benefit from the dual usage of biometric system for both data collection and user authentication (Choi & Park, 2015).

In addition to the study of biometrics authentication, there is a need for further research on the security methods for protection of contactless payments and CNP credit card transactions. One of the growing security problems with credit card transactions is the CNP vulnerability. Without the actual credit card being present during the transaction, other nontangible factors must be validated, requiring the vendor to depend on the verbal confirmation of the person making the CNP transaction. Pouwelse and Bruggink's (2016) address the growing complications of securing credit card transactions by CNP transaction fraud, within a study. Pouwelse and Bruggink study indicate that card fraud is a key cybercrime activity, with a full-scale underground economy. Biometric authentication and CNP was identified as above scope and outside the limits of this study. However, these two topics are rife for a doctoral level study.

Reflections

During my Walden University doctoral study evolution, I had the opportunity to; discover my weaknesses, find my inner strengths, develop humility, patient, and endurance. Conducting this study gave me the opportunity to meet and work with a diversity of students and instructors, allowing me to see subjects and ideas from different points of views. I felt the most overwhelming and challenging aspect of doing the study was the recruitment of participants. The COVID 19 Pandemic effected my access to potential participants and created the need for me to use online and virtual communication collaboration tools, for both recruiting and interviewing participants. In addition, multiple nationwide cybersecurity threats and attacks, during my study, created barriers to IT managers and their willingness to discuss their organization's IT security postures and strategies to protect their computing environments. Another element which surprised me was the clarity of the data to confirm the increased practice of organizations outsourcing/utilizing external service providers for their POS strategies and solutions, limiting their liabilities and efforts to provide internal services.

Given my many years of experience in the IT security field and currently working in an organization with POS systems and infrastructure, I was initially concerned that my potential bias would challenge the objectivity of my study. However, using the semi structure interview sessions with open-ended questions gave me the opportunity to be more of a listener than a talker, limiting the chance for me to influence the participants of the study. Despite some of challenges I faced both personal and academic in the pursuit of this doctoral study, I will use those enlighten learning experience in future analysis, development, and implementation of emerging IT solutions, throughout my career.

Conclusion

IT managers are responsible for providing the most secure e-commerce computing environments for their organization's users, both internal stakeholders and external consumers. Some IT managers lack strategies to transition their e-commerce organizations to chip-and-PIN credit card authentication infrastructures. A federal and financial institution compliance mandate required organization to implement, the more secure, chip and PIN capability by fall of 2015. However, some retailers have not fully converted to the full implementation, forcing customers to use the older magnetic strip methods to authenticate their purchases (Bush, 2016). The two-factor authentication process, using chip-enabled terminals with a secret PIN, provides a more secure electronic payment transaction. Secure authentication is accomplished when a user must use two different identity factors to complete the authentication process (Kaur & Pathak, 2015). With the appropriate strategy, IT managers can efficiently transition their e-commerce organizations to a chip-and-PIN credit card authentication platforms, increasing the security of the consumer's credit card payment experience. The study's findings can be used as an IT strategic template to efficiently transition other nations to the same credit card authentication platform, securing both consumers utilizing credit cards and vendors providing services within the global e-commerce market.

References

- Abubakar, F., & Ahmad, H. (2013). The moderating effect of technology awareness on the relationship between UTAUT constructs and behavioral intention to use technology: A conceptual paper. *Australian Journal of Business and Management Research*, 3(2), 14-23.
- Agag, G., & El-Masry, A. (2016). Understanding consumer intention to participate in online travel community and effects on consumer intention to purchase travel online and WOM: An integration of innovation diffusion theory and TAM with trust. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 60, 97-111.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2016.02.038

- Agrawal, N. (2021). Telephone network and internet penetration in India: A pragmatic study using data analytics. *Global Journal of Enterprise Information System*, 13(1), 42–47. <u>https://doi.org/10.18311/gjeis/2021</u>
- Ahmad, S. Z. (2014). Small and medium enterprises' internationalisation and business strategy: Some evidence from firms located in an emerging market. *Journal of Asia Business Studies*, 8(2), 168-186. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JABS-03-2013-0012</u>
- Antonenko, P. (2015). The instrumental value of conceptual frameworks in educational technology research. *Educational Technology Research & Development*, 63(1), 53-71.
- Anyan, F. (2013). The influence of power shifts in data collection and analysis stages: A focus on qualitative research interview. *The Qualitative Report, 18*(18), 1-9.

- Archibald, M., Radil, A., Zhang, X., & Hanson, W. (2015). Current mixed methods practices in qualitative research: A content analysis of leading journals.
 International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 14(2), 5-33.
- Arief, B., & Adzmi, M. (2015). Understanding cybercrime from its stakeholders' perspectives: Part 2--defenders and victims. *IEEE Security & Privacy*, *13*(2), 84-88. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/MSP.2015.44</u>
- Ashenden, D., & Sasse, A. (2013). CISOs and organisational culture: Their own worst enemy? *Computers & Security*, 39, 396-405.
- Ashish, U., Ds, S., & Milind, T. (2017). Analysis of payment card industry data security standard [PCI DSS] compliance by confluence of COBIT 5 framework.
 International Journal of Engineering Research and Applications, 7(1), 42-48.
- Bahnsen, A., Aouada, D., Stojanovic, A., & Ottersten, B. (2015). Feature engineering strategies for credit card fraud detection. *Expert Systems with Applications*, 51(1), 134–142. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eswa.2015.12.030</u>
- Baldwin, S. A., & Fellingham, G. W. (2013). Bayesian methods for the analysis of small sample multilevel data with a complex variance structure. *Psychological Methods*, *18*(2), 151-164. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0030642</u>
- Baltzell, A., Chipman, K., Hayden, L., & Bowman, C. (2015). Qualitative study of MMTS: Coaches' experience. *Journal of Multidisciplinary Research*, 7(3), 5-20.
- Banka, H. (2017). The macroeconomic impact of payment cards. *Journal of Payments Strategy & Systems, 11*(4), 313-333.

- Barker, M. (2013). Finding audiences for our research: Rethinking the issue of ethical challenges. *The Communication Review*, 16(1/2), 70-80. https://doi.org/10.1080/10714421.2013.757504
- Barton, k., Tejay, G., Lane, M., & Terrell, S. (2016). Information system security commitment: A study of external influences on senior management. *Computers & Security*, 59, 9-25.
- Baskarada, S. (2014). Qualitative case study guidelines. *The Qualitative Report, 19*(40), 1-18.
- Bengtsson, M. (2016). How to plan and perform a qualitative study using content analysis. *NursingPlus Open, 2*, 8-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.npls.2016.01.001</u>
- Berger, R. (2015). Now I see it, now I don't: Researcher's position and reflexivity in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, *15*, 219-234.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794112468475

- Berthod, O., Grothe-Hammer, M., & Sydow, J. (2017). Network ethnography: A mixedmethod approach for the study practices in interorganizational settings organizational research methods. *Organizational Research Methods*, 20(2), 299-323. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428116633872</u>
- Beskow, L. M., Check, D. K., & Ammarell, N. (2014). Research participants' understanding of and reactions to certificates of confidentiality. *AJOB Primary Research*, 5(1), 12-22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/21507716.2013.813596</u>

- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: A tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13), 1802–1811. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870</u>
- Biza-Khupe, S. (2014). Credit search. *The Journal of Applied Business and Economics*, *16*(3), 116-134.
- Boden, R. (2016). *MasterCard reports strong US EMV uptake*. NFCworld.com. http://www.nfcworld.com/2016/09/13/347237
- Boesch, I., Schwaninger, M., Weber, M., & Scholz, R. (2013). Enhancing validity and reliability through feedback-driven exploration: A study in the context of conjoint analysis. *Systemic Practice & Action Research*, 26, 217-238. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11213012-9248-6
- Bond, M., Choudary, M., Murdoch, S., Skorobogatov, S., & Anderson, R. (2015). Be prepared: The EMV replay attack. *IEEE Security & Privacy*, *13*(2), 56-64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/MSP.2015.24</u>
- Bossuyt, P. M., Olsen, M., Hyde, C., & Cohen, J. F. (2020). An analysis reveals differences between pragmatic and explanatory diagnostic accuracy studies. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, *117*, 29–35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2019.09.017</u>
- Conroy, J. (2014). *Lessons learned and the U.S. outlook*. https://aitenovarica.com/report/emv-lessons-learned-and-us-outlook
- Bourne, A. H., & Robson, M. A. (2015). Participants' reflections on being interviewed about risk and sexual behavior: Implications for collection of qualitative data on

sensitive topics. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, *18*(1), 105-116. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2013.860747</u>

- Bowden, C., & Galindo-Gonzalez, S. (2015). Interviewing when you're not face-to-face: The use of email interviews in a phenomenological study. *International Journal of Doctoral Studies*, *10*, 79-92.
- Brown, J. B., Ryan, B. L., Thorpe, C., Markle, E. R., Hutchison, B., & Glazier, R. H. (2015). Measuring teamwork in primary care: Triangulation of qualitative and quantitative data. *Families, Systems, & Health, 33*(3), 193-202. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/fsh0000109</u>
- Brutus, S., Aguinis, H., & Wassmer, U. (2013). Self-reported limitations and future directions in scholarly reports analysis and recommendations. *Journal of Management*, 39, 48–75. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206312455245</u>
- Bush, D. (2016). How data breaches lead to fraud. *Network Security*, 7, 11-13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1353-4858(16)30069-1</u>
- Cadarette, S., Ban, J., Consiglio, G., Black, C., Dubins, D., Marin, A., & Tadrous, M.
 (2016). Diffusion of innovations model helps interpret the comparative uptake of two methodological innovations: Co-authorship network analysis and recommendations for the integration of novel methods in practice, *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 84, 150-160.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2016.12.006

Caiazza, R. (2016). A cross-national analysis of policies affecting innovation diffusion. Journal of Technology Transfer, 41(6), 1406-1419.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-015-9439-2

- Caiazza, R., & Volpe, T. (2017). Innovation and its diffusion: Process, actors and actions. *Technology Analysis & Strategic Management*, 29(2), 181-189.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09537325.2016.1211262</u>
- Camps, S., & Molina, P. (2014). Exploring how social capital facilitates innovation: The role of innovation enablers. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 88, 325–48.
- Caretta, M. (2016). Member checking: A feminist participatory analysis of the use of preliminary results pamphlets in cross-cultural, cross-language research. *Qualitative Research*, 16(3), 305–318.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794115606495

- Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). Preparing for interview research: The interview protocol refinement framework. *The Qualitative Report*, *21*(5), 811-830.
- Castleberry, A. (2014). NVivo 10 [software program]. Version 10. QSR international; 2012. American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education, 78(1), 1-2. <u>https://doi.org/10.5688/ajpe78125</u>
- Caton, S., & Chapman, M. (2016). The use of social media and people with intellectual disability: A systematic review and thematic analysis. *Journal Of Intellectual & Developmental Disability*, 41(2), 125-139.

https://doi.org/10.3109/13668250.2016.1153052

- Cegielski, C. G., Bourrie, D. M., & Hazen, B. T. (2013). Evaluating adoption of emerging IT for corporate IT strategy: Developing a model using a qualitative method. *Information Systems Management*, 30(3), 235-249. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10580530.2013.794632</u>
- Cepeda, T. P., Gerardo, K. D. R., Perez, K. T., & Rivera, J. J. (2015). *Credit card fraud: When employees move from being an employer's biggest asset to their biggest liability*. Arden.
- Chang, H., Fu, C., & Jain, H. (2016). Modifying UTAUT and innovation diffusion theory to reveal online shopping behavior: Familiarity and perceived risk as mediators.
 Information Development, 32(5), 1757-1773.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0266666915623317

Chen, Y., & Li, S. (2014). Research of innovation diffusion on industrial networks. *Mathematical Problems in Engineering*. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/629279

Chenail, R. (2011). Interviewing the investigator: Strategies for addressing instrumentation and researcher bias concerns in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, *16*(1), 255-262.

- Childs, S., McLeod, J., Lomas, E., & Cook, C. (2014). Opening research data: Issues and opportunities. *Records Management Journal*, 24(2), 142-162. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/RMJ-01-2014-0005</u>
- Chin, H., Johnson, C., Kim, K., Knight, J., Mertens, A., Mink, P., Simeone, R., Woodard, J., & Howards, P. (2014). Piloting a computer assisted telephone interview: The FUCHSIA women's study. *BMC Women's Health*, *14*(149), 1-7.

- Choi, H., & Park, H. (2015). A multimodal user authentication system using faces and gestures. *Biomed Research International*, 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/343475
- Choi, S., Martins, J. T., & Bernik, I. (2018). Information security: Listening to the perspective of organisational insiders. *Journal of Information Science*, 44(6), 752–767. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0165551517748288</u>
- Chou, C., Lin, W., Lee, C., Tao, X., & Qian, Z. (2021). The impacts of information technology and E-commerce on operational performances: A two-stage dynamic partial adjustment approach. *Journal of Industrial & Production Engineering,* 38(4), 291–322. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/21681015.2021.1887381</u>
- Chung, M. (2020). Signs your cyber security is doomed to fail. *Computer Fraud & Security*, 2020(3), 10–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1361-3723(20)30029-4</u>
- Clapper, D., & Richmond, W. (2016). Small business compliance with PCI DSS. Journal of Management Information & Decision Sciences, 19(1), 54–67.
- Clarke, V., & Braun, V. (2013) Teaching thematic analysis: Overcoming challenges and developing strategies for effective learning. *The Psychologist*, *26*(2), 120-123.
- Clay, P. (2015). A modern threat response framework. Network Security, 4, 5-10.
- Collins, J. C. (2015). Technology Q&A. Journal of Accountancy, 220(5), 85-90.
- Colorafi, K. J., & Evans, B. (2016). Qualitative descriptive methods in health science research. *HERD: Health Environments Research & Design Journal*, 9(4), 16-25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1937586715614171</u>

- Comi, A., Bischof, N., & Eppler, M. J. (2014). Beyond projection: Using collaborative visualization to conduct qualitative interviews. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management*, 9(2), 110-133. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/QROM-05-2012-1074</u>
- Connelly, L. M. (2016). Understanding research. Trustworthiness in qualitative research. *MEDSURG Nursing*, 25(6), 435-436.
- Constantinou, C., Georgiou, M., & Perdikogianni, M. (2017). A comparative method for themes saturation (CoMeTS) in qualitative interviews. *Qualitative Research*, *17*(5), 571–588. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794116686650</u>
- Cope, D. G. (2014). Methods and meanings: Credibility and trustworthiness of qualitative research. Oncology Nursing Forum, 41(1), 89-91. https://doi.org/10.1188/14.ONF.89-91
- Cross, J., Pickering, K., & Hickey, M. (2014). Community-based participatory research, ethics, and institutional review boards: Untying a Gordian knot. *Critical Sociology*, 1-20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0896920513512696</u>
- DeFelice, D., & Janesick, V. J. (2015). Understanding the marriage of technology and phenomenological research: From design to analysis. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(10), 1576-1593.
- Denning, P. J., & Dew, N. (2015). Why our theories of innovation fail us? *Communications Of The ACM*, 58(12), 24-26. https://doi.org/10.1145/2835854

- Derobertmasure, A., & Robertson, J. E. (2014). Data analysis in the context of teacher training: Code sequence analysis using QDA miner(R). *Quality and Quantity*, 48, 2255-2276. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-013-9890-9</u>
- Desai, V. (2016). Under the radar: Regulatory collaborations and their selective use to facilitate organizational compliance. *Academy of Management Journal*, 59(2), 636–657. <u>https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2014.0943</u>
- Devotta, K., Woodhall-Melnik, J., Pedersen, C., Wendaferew, A., Dowbor, T., Guilcher, S., Hamilton-Wright, S., Ferentzy, P., & Hwang, S. (2016). Enriching qualitative research by engaging peer interviewers: A case study. *Qualitative Research*, *16*(6), 661 – 680. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794115626244</u>
- Dobrosielski, C. (2019). Venza's Joshua Bergen: From PCI DSS compliance to privacy, the company's president stresses the importance of education in ensuring data security. *Hotel Management*, 234(6), 55.
- Drew, H. (2014). Overcoming barriers: Qualitative interviews with German elites. *The Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 2, 77–86.
- Drnevich, P. L., & Croson, D. C. (2013). Information technology and business-levels strategy: Toward an integrated theoretical perspective. *MIS Quarterly*, *37*(2), 483-509.
- Dutta, S., & Omolayole, O. (2016). Are there differences between men and women in information technology innovation adoption behaviors: A theoretical study. *The Journal of Business Diversity*, 16(1), 106-114.

- Eastwood, C., Klerkx, L., & Nettle, R. (2017). Dynamics and distribution of public and private research and extension roles for technological innovation and diffusion:
 Case studies of the implementation and adaptation of precision farming technologies. *Journal of Rural Studies, 49*, 1-12.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2016.11.008
- Edwards, R., & Brannelly, T. (2017). Approaches to democratising qualitative research methods. *Qualitative Research*, *17*(3), 271 277.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794117706869

Elo, S., Kaariainen, M., Kanste, O., Polkki, T., Utriainen, K., & Kyngas, H. (2014). Qualitative content analysis: A focus on trustworthiness. SAGE Open, 1-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244014522633</u>

EMVCO.com. (2016). EMV chip deployment statistics.

https://www.emvco.com/about_emvco.aspx?id=202

- Enticott, J., Shawyer, F., Vasi, S., Buck, K., Cheng, H., Russell, G., Kakuma, R., Minas, H., & Meadows, G. (2017). A systematic review of studies with a representative sample of refugees and asylum seekers living in the community for participation in mental health research. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *17*(37), 1-16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-017-0312-x</u>
- Faris, N. (2017). Leadership in an Australian context: Highlighting a qualitative investigation with construct validity support. *The Qualitative Report*, 22(5), 1420-1438.

- Ferreira, R., Buttell, F., & Ferreira, S. (2015). Ethical considerations for conducting disaster research with vulnerable populations. *Journal of Social Work Values & Ethics*, 12, 1-29.
- Fielding, J., Fielding, N., & Hughes, G. (2013). Opening up open-ended survey data using qualitative software. *Quality and Quantity*, 47(6), 3261-3276. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-012-9716-1</u>
- Figliola, P. (2015). *The EMV chip card transition: Background, status, and issues for Congress. Congressional research service.* <u>https://www.fas.org</u>
- Fiore, U., De Santis, A., Perla, F., Zanetti, P., & Palmieri, F. (2017). Using generative adversarial networks for improving classification effectiveness in credit card fraud detection. *Information Sciences*. 8(31), 1–8.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ins.2017.12.030

Firmin, R. L., Bonfils, K. A., Luther, L., Minor, K. S., & Salyers, M. P. (2016). Using text-analysis computer software and thematic analysis on the same qualitative data: A case example. *Qualitative Psychology*.

https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000050

Flood-Grady, E., Clark, V., Bauer, A., Morelli, L., Horne, P., Kreiger, J., & Nelson, D. (2017). Evaluating the efficacy of a registry linked to a consent to re-contact program and communication strategies for recruiting and enrolling participants into clinical trials. *Contemporary Clinical Trials Communications*, 8, 62-66.

- Flower, A., McKenna, W. J., & Upreti, G. (2016). Validity and reliability of GraphClick and DataThief III for data extraction. *Behavior Modification*, 40, 396-413. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0145445515616105</u>
- Flowerday, S., & Tuyikeze, T. (2016). Information security policy development and implementation: The what, how and who. *Computers & Security*, 61, 169-183. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cose.2016.06.002</u>
- Fourar-Laidi, K. (2013). A smart card based framework for securing e-business transactions in distributed systems. *King Saud University Journal - Computer and Information Sciences*, 25(1), 1–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jksuci.2012.05.002</u>
- Forsyth, G. (2020). Securing card payments: Utilities handle vast amounts of customer data, including that of credit cards, so compliance with the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard is crucial. *Utility Week*, 29.
- Foxworth, D. (2015). FBI warns that new credit cards may be vulnerable to exploitation by fraudsters: New microchip-enabled credit cards may still be vulnerable to exploitation by fraudsters. <u>https://www.fbi.gov/sandiego/press-releases/2015/fbi-</u> warns-that-new-credit-cards-may-be-vulnerable-to-exploitation-by-fraudsters
- Franceschinis, C., Thiene, M., Scarpa, R., Rose, J., Moretto, M., & Cavalli, R. (2017). Adoption of renewable heating systems: An empirical test of the diffusion of innovation theory. *Energy*, 125, 313-326

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2017.02.060

- Frels, R. K., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2013). Administering quantitative instruments with qualitative interviews: A mixed research approach. *Journal of Counseling and Development: JCD*, 91(2), 184-194.
- Frey, A., Trenz, M., & Veit, D. (2019). A service-dominant logic perspective on the roles of technology in service innovation: uncovering four archetypes in the sharing economy. *Zeitschrift Für Betriebswirtschaft*, 89(8/9), 1149–1189
- Fugard-Pratt, A. J., & Potts, H. W. (2015). Supporting thinking on sample sizes for thematic analyses: A quantitative tool. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 18(6), 669-684. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2015.1005453</u>
- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(9), 1408-1416.
- Gerdes, G., Liu, M., Berkenpas, J., Chen, M., Hayward, M., McKee, J., Drake, S., Dyer,
 P., Brangaccio, D., & Donahue, N. (2013). The 2013 Federal Reserve payments
 study. *Federal Reserve System*, 32-37.
- Gerdes, G., Liu, M., Green, C., & Massaro, E. (2019). The 2019 Federal Reserve payments study. *Federal Reserve System*.
- Gill, M. J. (2014). The possibilities of phenomenology for organizational research. Organizational Research Methods, 17(2), 118-137. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428113518348
- Glor, E. D. (2015). Building theory of organizational innovation, change, fitness, and survival. *The Innovation Journal*, *20*(2), 1-168.

- Goodarzi, S., Masini, A., Aflaki, S., & Fahimnia, B. (2021). Right information at the right time: Reevaluating the attitude–behavior gap in environmental technology adoption. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 242.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2021.108278
- Gow, J. I. (2014). Public sector innovation theory revisited. *The Innovation Journal*, *19*(2), 2-22.
- Green, H. E. (2014). Use of theoretical and conceptual frameworks in qualitative research. *Nurse Researcher*, *21*(6), 34-38
- Greenwood, M. (2016). Approving or improving research ethics in management journals. Journal of Business Ethics, 137(3), 507-520. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-015-2564-x</u>
- Gummesson, E. (2014). Service research methodology: From case study research to case theory. *Revista Ibero Americana De Estratégia*, *13*(4), 8-17.
- Harrell, E. (2015). Victims of identity theft, 2014. NCJ 248991. http://www.bjs. gov
- Harvey, L. (2015). Beyond member checking: A dialogic approach to the research interview. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 38, 23-38. https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727X.2014.914487
- Harvey, M. (2016). The rise of the LP: The politics of diffusion innovation in the recording industry. *Business History*, 58(7), 1095-1117. https://doi.org/10.1080/00076791.2016.1156673

Hemphill, T., & Longstreet, P. (2016). Financial data breaches in the U.S. retail economy: Restoring confidence in information technology security standards. *Technology in Society*, 44, 30-38. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techsoc.2015.11.007</u>

Hendi, Y. P. (2011). Building our defence against credit card fraud: A strategic view. Journal of Money Laundering Control, 14(4), 371-386. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/13685201111173848</u>

- Hennink, M., Kaiser, B., & Marconi, V. (2016). Code saturation versus meaning saturation: How many interviews are enough? *Qualitative Health Research*, 27(4), 591 – 608. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316665344</u>
- Hensen, A., & Dong, J. (2020). Hierarchical business value of information technology: Toward a digital innovation value chain. *Information & Management*, 57(4).
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2019.103209
- Ho, C., Wang, Y., & Yen, N. (2015). Does environmental sustainability play a role in the adoption of smart card technology at universities in Taiwan: An integration of TAM and TRA. *Sustainability*, 7(8), 10994-11009.

https://doi.org/10.3390/su70810994

- Holmberg, C., Karner, J., Rappenecker, J., & Witt, C. (2014). Clinical trial participants' experiences of completing questionnaires: A qualitative study. *BMJ Open*, 4(3). <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2013-004363</u>
- Hosseini, M. R., Chileshe, N., Zuo, J., & Baroudi, B. (2015). Adopting global virtual engineering teams in AEC projects. *Construction Innovation*, *15*(2), 151-179.

- Hoyland, S., Hagen, J., & Engelbach, W. (2017). Developing and applying a framework for assessing the research quality of qualitative project methods in the EU project SECUR-ED. SAGE Open, 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/215824401771029</u>
- Jamshidi, D., & Hussin, N. (2016). Innovation diffusion theory meets satisfaction and social influence. *Journal Of Promotion Management*, 22(6), 897-917. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10496491.2016.1214206</u>
- Jarzabkowski, P., Bednarek, R., & Le, J. (2014). Producing persuasive findings: Demystifying ethnographic text work in strategy and organization research. *Strategic Organization*, 12(4), 274-287.
- Jiang, Q., Ma, J., Li, G., & Li, X. (2015). Improvement of robust smart-card-based password authentication scheme. *International Journal of Communication Systems*, 28(2), 383-393. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/dac.2644</u>
- Johnson, A. M., & Lederer, A. L. (2013). IS strategy and IS contribution: CEO and CIO perspectives. *Information Systems Management*, 30(4), 306-318. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10580530.2013.832962</u>
- Johnson, B. (2014). Ethical issues in shadowing research. *Qualitative Research in* Organizations and Management, 9(1), 21-40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/QROM-09-</u> 2012-1099
- Jones, K., & Leonard, L. (2014). Factors influencing buyer's trust in consumer-toconsumer e-commerce. *The Journal of Computer Information Systems*, 54(4), 71-79.

- Jordan, S. R., & Gray, P. W. (2014). Reporting ethics committee approval in public administration research. *Science and Engineering Ethics*, 20(1), 77-97. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11948-013-9436-5</u>
- Kamel, N., & Lanet, J. (2013). Risks induced by web applications on smart cards. Journal of Information Security and Applications, 18 (2–3), 148–156. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jisa.2013.09.002</u>
- Kaptein, M., & Parvinen, P. (2015). Advancing e-commerce personalization: Process framework and case study. *International Journal of Electronic Commerce*, 19(3), 7–33.
- Karolefsk, J. (2016). *EMV credit card angst continues. Card-not-present fraud compounds concerns.*

https://www.progressivegrocer.com/departments/technology/continued-angst-

emv-credit-cards-checkout

- Kaur, K., & Pathak, A. (2015). E-payment system on e-commerce in India. *International Journal of Engineering Research and Application* 5(2), 79-87.
- Kellogg, M., Schaf, M., Tasiran, S., & Ernst, M. (2020). Continuous compliance. 2020
 35th IEEE/ACM International Conference on Automated Software Engineering (ASE), Automated Software Engineering (ASE), 2020 35th IEEE/ACM International Conference on, ASE, 511–523.
- Kernaghan, K. (2014). Digital dilemmas: Values, ethics and information technology. *Canadian Public Administration*, *57*(2), 295–317.

https://doi.org/10.1111/capa.12069

- Kerwin-Boudreau, S., & Butler-Kisber, L. (2016). Deepening understanding in qualitative inquiry. *The Qualitative Report*, *21*(5), 956-971.
- Khalilzadeh, J., Ozturk, A., & Bilgihanb, A. (2017). Security-related factors in extended UTAUT model for NFC based mobile payment in the restaurant industry. *Computers in Human Behavior, 70*, 460-474.

https://doi.org/0.1016/j.chb.2017.01.001

- Khan, S. (2014). Qualitative research method: Grounded theory. International Journal of Business and Management, 9(11), 224-233. https://doiorg/10.5539/ijbm.v9n11p224
- Killawi, A., Khidir, A., Elnashar, M., Abdelrahim, H., Hammoud, M., Elliott, H., Thurston, M., Asad, H., Al-Khal, A., & Fetters, M. D. (2014). Procedures of recruiting, obtaining informed consent, and compensating research participants in Qatar: Findings from a qualitative investigation. *BMC Medical Ethics*, 15, 9. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6939-15-9
- Kirkwood, A., & Price, L. (2013). Examining some assumptions and limitations of research on the effects of emerging technologies for teaching and learning in higher education. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 44, 536-543. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.12049</u>
- Kissil, K., & Nino, A. (2017). Does the person-of-the-therapist training (POTT) promote self-care? Personal gains of MFT trainees following POTT: A retrospective thematic analysis. *Journal Of Marital & Family Therapy*, 43(3), 526-536. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jmft.12213</u>

- Kornbluh, M. (2015). Combatting challenges to establishing trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 12, 397-414. https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2015.1021941
- Landrum, B., & Garza, G. (2015). Mending fences: Defining the domains and approaches of quantitative and qualitative research. *Qualitative Psychology*, *2*, 199–209. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000030</u>
- Leite, E. (2022). Innovation networks for social impact: An empirical study on multiactor collaboration in projects for smart cities. *Journal of Business Research*, 139, 325–337. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2021.09.072</u>
- Leppaaho, T., Plokoyinnaki, E., & Dimitratos, P. (2016). The case study in family business: An analysis of current research practices and recommendations. *Family Business Review*, 29(2), 159 -173. <u>https://doi-org/10.1177/0894486515614157</u>
- Lewis, J., Whysall, P., & Foster, C. (2014). Drivers and technology-related obstacles in moving to multichannel retailing. *International Journal of Electronic Commerce*, 18(4), 43–68.
- Løhre, A. (2020). Identity formation in adolescents with concentration problems, high levels of activity or impulsiveness: A pragmatic qualitative study. *International Journal of Educational Psychology*, 9(1), 1–23.
- Lub, V. (2015). Validity in qualitative evaluation: Linking purposes, paradigms, and perspectives. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 14, 1-8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406915621406</u>

- Lucas, S. (2014). Beyond the existence proof: ontological conditions, epistemological implications, and in-depth interview research. *Quality & Quantity*, 48, 387–408. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-012-9775-3</u>
- Lundberg, H., Ohman, P., & Sjodin, U. (2014). Transaction convenience in the payment stage: The retailers' perspective. *Managing Service Quality*, 24(5), 434.
- Lunnay, B., Borlagdan, J., McNaughton, D., & Ward, P. (2015). Ethical use of social media to facilitate qualitative research. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25(1), 99–

109. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732314549031</u>

- Maillet, E., Mathieu, L., & Sicotte, C. (2015). Modeling factors explaining the acceptance, actual use and satisfaction of nurses using an electronic patient record in acute care settings: An extension of the UTAUT. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, 84(1), 36-47.
- Makrakis, V., & Kostoulas-Makrakis, N. (2016). Bridging the qualitative–quantitative divide: Experiences from conducting a mixed methods evaluation in the RUCAS programme. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, *54*, 144–151.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2015.07.008

- Mao, Y., Tian, X., & Wang, X. (2021). I will empty it, be my guest: A pragmatic study of toasting in Chinese culture. *Journal of Pragmatics*, 180, 77–88.
 <u>https://doi.org/ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.pragma.2021.04.025</u>
- Martinovic, I., Rasmussen, K. B., Roeschlin, M., & Tsudik, G. (2017). Pulse-response:
 Exploring human body impedance for biometric recognition. ACM Transactions
 on Privacy and Security (TOPS), 20(2), 6:7-6:9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1145/3064645</u>

- Martins, C., Oliveira, T., & Popovic, A. (2014). Understanding the internet banking adoption: A unified theory of acceptance and use of technology and perceived risk application. *International Journal of Information Management*, 34, 1-13.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2013.06.002
- Mauceri, S. (2014). Mixed strategies for improving data quality: The contribution of qualitative procedures to survey research. *Quality and Quantity*, 48(5), 2773-2790. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-013-9923-4</u>
- Mavhandu-Mudzusi, A. (2018). The couple interview as a method of collecting data in interpretative phenomenological analysis studies. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 17, 1-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917750994</u>
- McCusker, K., & Gunaydin, S. (2015). Research using qualitative, quantitative or mixed methods and choice based on the research. *Perfusion*, 30(7), 537–542. https://doi.org/10.1177/0267659114559116
- Mealer, M., & Jones, J. (2014). Methodological and ethical issues related to qualitative telephone interviews on sensitive topics. *Nurse Researcher*, 21(4), 32. <u>https://doi.org/10.7748/nr2014.03.21.4.32.e1229</u>
- Mears, A. (2013). Ethnography as precarious work. *The Sociological Quarterly*, *54*, 20-34. <u>https://doi-org/10.1111/tsq.12005</u>
- Milker, E. (2007). LinuxlT Europe launches payment card industry data security standard compliance service. *Database & Network Journal*, *37*(1), 25-26.

- Mithas, S., & Rust, R. T. (2016). How information technology strategy and investments influence firm performance: Conjecture and empirical evidence. *MIS Quarterly*, 40(1), 223-246.
- Mittereder, F., Durow, J., West, B., Kreuter, F., & Conrad., F. (2017). Interviewer– respondent interactions in conversational and standardized interviewing. *Field Methods*, 1-19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X17729341</u>
- Modell, S. (2015). Theoretical triangulation and pluralism in accounting research: A critical realist critique. Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal, 28(7). <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/AAAJ-10-2014-1841</u>
- Moon, J., Choi, Y., Jung, J., & Won, D. (2015). An improvement of robust biometricsbased authentication and key agreement scheme for multi-server environments using smart cards. *Plos ONE*, *10*(12), 1-15.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0145263

Morosan, C., & DeFranco, A. (2016). It's about time: Revisiting UTAUT2 to examine consumers' intentions to use NFC mobile payments in hotels. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 53, 17-29.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2015.11.003

- Morse, J. (2015). Critical analysis of strategies for determining rigor in qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25(9), 1212-1222. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315588501
- Morse, J. M. (2015). "Data were saturated..." *Qualitative Health Research*, 25, 587-588. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315576699</u>

- Moy, P., & Murphy, J. (2016). Problems and prospects in survey research. *Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly*, 93(1), 16–37
- Na Lim, J. (2014). The government as marketer of innovation. *Engineering, Construction* and Architectural Management, 21(5), 551-570.
- Nagar, A., Elluri, L., & Joshi, K. P. (2021). Automated compliance of mobile wallet payments for cloud services. 2021 7th IEEE Intl Conference on Big Data Security on Cloud (BigDataSecurity), IEEE Intl Conference on High Performance and Smart Computing, (HPSC) and IEEE Intl Conference on Intelligent Data and Security (IDS), Big Data Security on Cloud (BigDataSecurity), IEEE Intl Conference on High Performance and Smart Computing, (HPSC) and IEEE Intl Conference on High Performance and Smart Computing, (HPSC) and IEEE Intl Conference on High Performance and Smart Computing, (HPSC) and IEEE Intl Conference on Intelligent Data and Security (IDS), 2021 7th IEEE Intl Conference on, BIGDATASECURITY-HPSC-IDS, 38–45.
 https://doi.org/10.1109/BigDataSecurityHPSCIDS52275.2021.00018
- Nehme, E., Perez, A., Ranjit, N., Amick, B., & Kohl, H. (2016). Behavioral theory and
- transportation cycling research: Application of diffusion of innovations. *Journal* of Transport & Health, 3(3), 346-356. <u>https://doi-org/10.1016/j.jth.2016.05.127</u>
- Neuman, D. (2014). Qualitative research in educational communications and technology:
 A brief introduction to principles and procedures. *Journal of Computing in Higher Education*, 26(1), 69-86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12528-014-9078-x</u>
- Nicho, M., & Hendy, M. (2013). Dimensions of security threats in cloud computing: A case study. *The Review of Business Information Systems*, *17*(4), 159-170.

- Nieuwenhuijsen, J., Correia, G., Milaks, D., Arem, B., & Daalen, E. (2018). Towards a quantitative method to analyze the long-term innovation diffusion of automated vehicles technology using system dynamics. *Transportation Research Part C 86*, 300-327. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trc.2017.11.016
- Nipp, R. D., Yao, N. A., Lowenstein, L. M., Buckner, J. C., Parker, I. R., Gajra, A., Morrison, V. A., Dale, W., & Ballman, K. V. (2016). Pragmatic study designs for older adults with cancer: Report from the U13 conference. *Journal of Geriatric Oncology*, 7, 234-241. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jgo.2016.02.005</u>
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence-Based Nursing*, 18(2), 34-35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/eb-2015-102054</u>
- Ogiela, L., & Ogiela, M. (2014). Cognitive systems for intelligent business information management in cognitive economy. *International Journal of Information Management*, 34(6), 751-760. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2014.08.001</u>
- Olson, J. D., McAllister, C., Grinnell, L. D., Walters, K. G., & Appunn, F. (2016). Applying constant comparative method with multiple investigators and intercoder reliability. *The Qualitative Report*, 21(1), 26-42.
- O'Reilly, M., & Parker, N. (2013). Unsatisfactory saturation: A critical exploration of the notion of saturated sample sizes in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, 13(2), 190 197. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794112446106</u>
- Orrell, A., McKee, K., Dahlberg, L., Gilhooly, M., & Parker, S. (2013). Improving continence services for older people from the service-providers' perspective: A

qualitative interview study. *BMJ Open*, *3*(7). <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-</u> 2013-002926

- Ouerdi, N., Azizi, M., Lanet, J., Azizi, A., & Ziane, M. (2013). EMV card: Generation of test cases based on sysML models. 2013 International Conference on Electronic Engineering and Computer Science, IERI Procedia 4, 133–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ieri.2013.11.020
- Ozorhon, B., Abbott, C., & Aouad, G. (2014). Integration and leadership as enablers of innovation in construction: Case study. *Journal of Management in Engineering*, 30(2), 256-263.
- Pagnini, F., Bonalda, E., Montrasi, E., Toselli, E., & Antonietti. A. (2021). Mindfully reframing the psychological impact of the COVID-19 outbreak through a social media community for students: A pragmatic study. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12. https://doi.org/ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.566778
- Park, H., & Lee, H. (2014). Product smartness and use-diffusion of smart products: The mediating roles of consumption values. *Asian Social Science*, 10(3), 54–61. <u>https://doi-org/10.5539/ass.v10n3p54</u>
- Patton, M. Q. (2015). Qualitative research & evaluation methods (4th ed.). Sage.
- Patton, M. Q. (2015). *Qualitative research and methods: Integrating theory and practice.* Sage.
- Payment Card Industry Data Security Standards Council. (2018). Payment card industry data security standard. Requirements and Security Assessment Procedures.

https://www.pcisecuritystandards.org/documents/PCI_DSS_v3-2-

1.pdf?agreement=true&time=1636927816038

- Peppers, D., & Rogers, M. (2013). Extreme trust: The new competitive advantage. *Strategy & Leadership*, *41*(6), 31-34. https://doi.org/10.1108/SL-07-2013-0054
- Pierre, E., & Jackson, A. (2014). Qualitative data analysis after coding. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 20(6), 715-719. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800414532435</u>
- Pinsky, D. (2015). The sustained snapshot: Incidental ethnographic encounters in qualitative interview studies. *Qualitative Research*, 15(3), 281 – 295. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794112473493</u>
- Podsakoff, P., MacKenzie, S., & Podsakoff, N. (2016). Recommendations for Creating better concept definitions in the organizational, behavioral, and social sciences. *Organizational Research Methods*, 19(2), 159-203.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428115624965

- Polacsek, M., Boardman, G., & McCann, T. (2017). Paying patient and caregiver research participants: Putting theory into practice. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 73(4), 847–856. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13222</u>
- Ponterotto, J. G. (2014). Best practices in psychobiographical research. *Qualitative Psychology*, 1(1), 77-90. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000005</u>
- Pouwelse, J., & Bruggink, D. (2016). Reducing card-not-present fraud using preapproved transactions. *Journal Of Payments Strategy & Systems*, *10*(1), 50-63.

Rahi, S., Ghani, M., & Alnaser, F. (2017). Predicting customer's intentions to use internet banking: the role of technology acceptance model (TAM) in e-banking.
 Management Science Letters, 7(11), 513-524.

Rahi, S., Ghani, M., Alnaser, F., & Ngah, A. (2018). Investigating the role of unified theory of acceptance and use of technology (UTAUT) in internet banking adoption context. *Management Science Letters*, 8(3), 173-186. https://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2018.1.001

Ravitch, S. M., & Carl, N. M. (2015). *Qualitative research: Bridging the conceptual, theoretical, and methodological.* SAGE Publications

Reddy, K. S. (2015). Beating the odds! Build theory from emerging markets phenomenon and the emergence of case study research—A "test-tube" typology. *Cogent Business & Management*, 2, 1-25.

https://doi.org/10.1080/23311975.2015.1037225

- Reilly, R. C. (2013). Found poems, member checking and crises of representation. *The Qualitative Report*, 18(15), 10-18.
- Rice, E., Holloway, I., Barman-Adhikari, A., Fuentes, D., Brown, C., & Palinkas, L.
 (2014). A mixed methods approach to network data collection. *Field Methods*, 26, 252-268. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X13518168</u>

Rimando, M., Brace, A., Namageyo-Funa, A., Parr, T. L., Sealy, D. (2015). Data collection challenges and recommendations for early career researchers. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(12), 2025-2036.
- Robertson, D. A. (2014). Safe to swipe? Why Congress should amend the EFT A to increase debit card user protection. *Texas Law Review*, *93*(2), 505-519.
- Robinson, O. (2014). Sampling in interview-based qualitative research: A theoretical and practical guide. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 11(1), 25-41. https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2013.801543r
- Rockwell, L. (2013). Payment cards. *Encyclopedia of Forensic Sciences*, 432–438. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-382165-2.00219-1
- Rogers, E. (2003). Diffusion of innovations (5th ed.). Free Press.
- Roy, K., Zvonkovic, A., Goldberg, A., Sharp, E., & LaRossa, R. (2015). Sampling richness and qualitative integrity: Challenges for research with families. *Journal* of Marriage and Family, 77(1), 243-260. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12147</u>
- Safarnejad, A., Groot, W., & Pavlova, M. (2018). Study design and the estimation of the size of key populations at risk of HIV: Lessons from Viet Nam. *BMC International Health Human Rights*, 18(7), 1-13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12914-018-0141-y</u>
- Salkind, N. J. (2010). *Pragmatic study in: Encyclopedia of research design*. Sage publications, 1-5. <u>https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412961288</u>
- Scott, S., & McGuire, J. (2017). Using diffusion of innovation theory to promote universally designed college instruction. *International Journal of Teaching and Learning in Higher Education*, 29(1), 119-128.

- Seetharaman, A., Kumar, K., Palaniappan, S., & Weber, G. (2017). Factors influencing behavioural intention to use the mobile wallet in Singapore. *Journal of Applied Economics & Business Research*, 7(2), 116-136.
- Shaw, N., Eschenbrenner, B., & Brand, B. (2022). Towards a mobile app diffusion of innovations model: A multinational study of mobile wallet adoption. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*. 64 doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2021.102768
- Shepard, S. (2016). *The slow adoption of the EMV chip*. <u>https://securitytoday.com/Articles/2016/03/29/The-Slow-Adoption-of-the-EMV-</u> Chip.aspx
- Shin, B. H., Yum, J. W., Kim, S. H., Lee, J. Y., & Jang, J. H. (2013). Secure dual-chip contactless card with an integrated complementary touch switch. *Microwave & Optical Technology Letters*, 55(3), 529-533. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/mop.27362</u>
- Shin, S., & Lee, W. (2014). The effects of technology readiness and technology acceptance on NFC mobile payment services in Korea. *The Journal of Applied Business Research*, 30(6). 1615 – 1626.
- Shipherd, A. M., Basevitch, I., Renner, K. B., & Siwatu, K. O. (2014). Development and evaluation of a team building intervention with a U.S. collegiate rugby team: A mixed methods approach. *Journal of Multidisciplinary Research*, 6(2), 31-48.
- Shree, D., Kumar Singh, R., Paul, J., Hao, A., & Xu, S. (2021). Digital platforms for business-to-business markets: A systematic review and future research agenda. *Journal of Business Research*, 137, 354–365.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2021.08.031

Shu, X., Zhang, J., Yao, D., & Feng, W. C. (2016). Fast detection of transformed data leaks. *IEEE Transactions on Information Forensics and Security*, 11(3) 528-542. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/TIFS.2015.2503271</u>

Simpson, G., & Clifton, J. (2017). Testing diffusion of innovations theory with data: Financial incentives, early adopters, and distributed solar energy in Australia. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 29, 12-22.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2017.04.005

- Sinigaglia, F., Carbone, R., Costa, G., & Zannone, N. (2020). A survey on multi-factor authentication for online banking in the wild. *Computers & Security*, 95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cose.2020.101745</u>
- Smith, R. A., Kim, Y., Zhu, X., Dodou, D. T., Sternberg, E. D., & Thomas, M. B. (2018).
 Integrating models of diffusion and behavior to predict innovations adoption,
 maintenance, and social diffusion. *Journal of Health Communication*, 23(3), 264-

271. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10810730.2018.1434259</u>

- Soilen, K. (2016) Economic and industrial espionage at the start of the 21st century status quaestionis. *Journal of Intelligence Studies in Business, 6*(3), 51-64.
- Sotiriadou, P., Brouwers, J., & Le, T. (2014). Choosing a qualitative data analysis tool: A comparison of NVivo and Leximancer. *Annals of Leisure Research*, 17, 218-234, https://doi.org/10.1080/11745398.2014.902292

Souppaya, M., & Scarfone, K. (2013). Guidelines for managing the security of mobile devices in the enterprise. U.S. Department of Commerce, National Institute of Standards and Technology. <u>https://doi.org/10.6028/NIST.SP.800-124r1</u>

- Stewart, R. (2016). Intercultural and career experiences of African American women midlevel leaders at predominately White institutions.
- Sulistyowati, D., Handayani, F., & Suryanto, Y. (2020). Comparative analysis and design of cybersecurity maturity assessment methodology using NIST CSF, COBIT, ISO/IEC 27002 and PCI DSS. *JOIV: International Journal on Informatics Visualization*, 4(4), 225–230. <u>https://doi.org/10.30630/joiv.4.4.482</u>
- Sutton, J., & Austin, Z. (2015). Qualitative research: Data collection, analysis, and management. *Canadian Journal of Hospital Pharmacy*, 68(3), 226–231. <u>https://doi.org/10.4212/cjhp.v6813.1456</u>
- Sutton, S. G., & Arnold, V. (2013). Focus group methods: Using interactive and nominal groups to explore emerging technology-driven phenomena in accounting and information systems. *Methodologies in AIS Research*, 14(2), 81-88.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.accinf.2011.10.001</u>
- Taha, A. M., Abbood, A. A., & Abdulrazzaq, A. A. (2018). Identifying the affecting factors for adoption of open source software in IT community. *Journal of Engineering and Applied Sciences*, *13*(14), 5771-5780.
 https://doi.org/10.3923/jeasci.2018.5771.5780
- Tan, G., Ooi, K., Chong, S., & Hew, T. (2014). NFC mobile credit card: The next frontier of mobile payment? *Telematics and Informatics*, 31(2), 292-307. <u>https://doiorg/10.1016/j.tele.2013.06.002</u>
- Tanye, H. A. (2016). Perceived attributes of innovations: Perceived security as an additional attribute to Roger's diffusion of innovations theory. *International*

Journal of Multicultural and Multireligious Understanding, 3(6), 6-18. https://doi.org/10.18415/ijmmu.v3i6.57

Thorne, S. (2016). *Interpretive description: Qualitative research for applied practice* (Vol. 2). Routledge.

Thrope, A. S. (2014). Doing the right thing or doing the thing right: Implications of participant withdrawal. Organizational Research Methods, 17, 255-277. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428114524828</u>

- Tomkins, L., & Eatough, V. (2013). The feel of experience: Phenomenological ideas for organizational research. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management: An International Journal*, 8, 258-275. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/QROM-04-2012-1060</u>
- Tsohou, A., Karyda, M., Kokolakis, S., & Kiountouzis, E. (2015). Managing the introduction of information security awareness programmes in organisations. *European Journal of Information Systems*, 24(1), 38-58. https://doi.org/10.1057/ejis.2013.27
- Tsushima, R. (2015). Methodological diversity in language assessment research: The role of mixed methods in classroom-based language assessment studies. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 14(2), 104-121.

https://doi.org/10.1177/160940691501400202

Turner, B. L., Hyunjung, K., & Andersen, D. F. (2014). Improving coding procedures for purposive text data: Researchable questions for qualitative system dynamics modeling. Systems Dynamics Review, 29, 253-263.

https://doi.org/10.1002/sdr.1506

- U.S. Department of Health & Human Services. (1979). *The Belmont Report*. http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/humansubjects/guidance/belmont.html
- Valente, T., Dyal, S., Chu, K., Wipfli, H., & Fujimoto, K. (2015). Diffusion of innovations theory applied to global tobacco control treaty ratification. *Social Science & Medicine*, 145, 89-97. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.10.001</u>
- Van Knippenberg, D., Dahlander, L., Haas, M., & George, G. (2015). Information, attention, and decision making. *Academy Of Management Journal*, 58(3), 649-657. <u>https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2015.4003</u>
- Vuori, T., & Huy, Q. (2016). Distributed attention and shared emotions in the innovation process. Administrative Science Quarterly, 61(1), 9-51.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0001839215606951

- Wakamori, N., & Welte, A. (2017). Why do shoppers use cash? Evidence from shopping diary data. *Journal of Money, Credit, and Banking, 49*(1) 115–169. https://doi.org/10.1111/jmcb.12379
- Wan, L., & Zhang, C. (2014). Responses to trust repair after privacy breach incidents. Journal of Service Science Research, 6(2), 193-224. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12927-014-0008-2

Watkins, D. (2017). Rapid and rigorous qualitative data analysis: The "RADaR" technique for applied research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 16, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917712131

- Watt, J., & Van den Berg, S. (2002). Research methods for communication science. Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute.
- Welch, C., Rumyantseva, M., & Hewerdine, L. (2015). Using case research to reconstruct concepts: A methodology and illustration. *Organizational Research Methods*, 19, 111-130. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428115596435</u>
- West, B. T., & Kreuter, F. (2013). Factors affecting the accuracy of interviewer observations: Evidence from the national survey of family growth. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, 77, 522-548. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/poq/</u>
- West, J., & Bhattacharya, M. (2016). Intelligent financial fraud detection: A comprehensive review. *Computers & Security*, 57 47-66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cose.2015.09.005
- Whittemore, A. H. (2014). Phenomenology and city planning. *Journal of Planning, Education, and Research, 34*, 301-308.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0739456X14536989

- Willey, L., & White, B. J. (2013). Teaching case do you take credit cards? Security and compliance for the credit card payment industry. *Journal of Information Systems Education*, 24(3), 181-188.
- Wolf, L. E., Patel, M. J., Williams Tarver, B. A., Austin, J. L., Dame, L. A., & Beskow,
 L. M. (2015). Certificates of confidentiality: Protecting human subject research
 data in law and practice. *The Journal of Law, Medicine, & Ethics, 43*(3), 594-609.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/jlme.12302

- Wolgemuth, J., Erdil-Moody, Z., Opsal, T., Cross, J., Kaanta, T., Dickmann, E., & Colomer, S. (2015). Participants' experiences of the qualitative interview:
 Considering the importance of research paradigms. *Qualitative Research*, 15(3), 351 372. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794114524222</u>
- Yeh, H. (2017). The effects of successful ICT-based smart city services: From citizens' perspectives. *Government Information Quarterly*, 34(3), 556-565. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.giq.2017.05.001</u>
- Yii, S. B., Powell, M. B., & Guadagno, B. (2014). The association between investigative interviewers' knowledge of question type and adherence to best-practice interviewing. *Legal and Criminological Psychology*, 19(2), 270-281. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/lcrp.12000</u>
- Yin, R. K. (2014). Case study research: Design and methods (5th ed.). Sage.
- Zamawe, F. C. (2015). The implication of using NVivo software in qualitative data analysis: Evidence-based reflections. *Malawi Medical Journal*, 27(1), 13-15. https://doi.org/10.4314/mmj.v27il.4
- Zhang, F., Wei, L., Yang, J., & Zhu, L. (2017). Roles of relationships between large shareholders and managers in radical innovation: A stewardship theory perspective. Journal of Product Innovation Management, 35(1), 88-105. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jpim.12376</u>
- Zhang, T., Dong, P., Zeng, Y., & Ju, Y., (2022) Analyzing the diffusion of competitive smart wearable devices: An agent-based multi-dimensional relative agreement.

Journal of Business Research 139, 90-105.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2021.09.027

- Zhou, F., & Li, L. (2014). Analysis on the effect of technological innovation diffusion based on the carbon emission reduction. *Management & Engineering*, 16, 96-100. <u>https://doi.org/10.5503/J.ME.2014.16.019</u>
- Zohrabi, M. (2013). Mixed method research: instruments, validity, reliability and reporting findings. *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, *3*(2), 254-262. https://doi.org/10.4304/tpls.3.2.254-262
- Zsifkovits, M., & Gunther, M. (2015). Simulating resistances in innovation diffusion over multiple generations: An agent-based approach for fuel-cell vehicles. *Central European Journal of Operations Research*, 23(2), 501-522.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10100-015-0391-x</u>

Appendix A: Interview Guide

Interview/Survey Questions

Background questions: Demographic

- 1. How long have you been working in the Information Technology (IT) field?
- 2. What is your experience with IT security?
- 3. Do you have any certifications in IT security?
- 4. How long have you been with your organization?
- 5. What roles do you play in the planning, selection, and implementing IT security systems, within your organization?

IT Managers Strategic Focused Questions

- 1. What strategies have you used to successfully implement chip and PIN credit card authentication infrastructures?
- 2. What strategies have you used that were not successful in the implementation of chip and PIN credit card authentication infrastructures?
- 3. What challenges did you face in implementing chip and PIN credit card authentication infrastructures?
- 4. What strategies have you used that were successful in gaining stakeholder buy-in for implementing chip and PIN credit card authentication infrastructures?
- 5. How have your implementation strategy for chip and PIN credit card authentication infrastructures impacted the security posture in your organization?
- 6. What additional information would you like to share about the strategies used to implement chip and PIN credit card authentication infrastructures?

Appendix B: NIH Certification for Protecting Human Research Participants

Card Constant **Certificate of Completion** The National Institutes of Health (NIH) Office of Extramural Research certifies that Neville Gallimore successfully completed the NIH Webbased training course "Protecting Human Research Participants". Date of completion: 07/06/2015 Certification Number: 1794335 A CONTRACTOR - A -

Appendix C: Protocol and Interview Protocol Refinement (IPR) Processes

Protocol steps:

- Send out invitation to potential participants
- Schedule interview session and location
- Send out consent form and interview questions
- The Four-Phase Process to Interview Protocol Refinement (IPR)
 - The interview protocol framework is comprised of four-phases:
 - Phase 1: Ensuring interview questions align with research questions,
 - Phase 2: Constructing an inquiry-based conversation,
 - Phase 3: Receiving feedback on interview protocols
 - Phase 4: Piloting the interview protocol (not recommended for this study)

• Conduct interview session

- Explain study, intent and significant
- Review consent forms
- Confirm permission to continue interview
- Present open-ended questions and encourage in-depth answers

• Conduct member checking on-site

Review video and audio recording immediately on-site

Submit draft and final transcripts for validation and error checking

Appendix D: Copyright Permission for Graphics

Copy Right Permission Letter and Emails



Permissions

T & F Reference Number: P060917-02

6/9/2017

Neville A. Gallimore Doctoral Candidate D.I.T Program Walden University XXXXXXX Dear Mr. Gallimore,

We are in receipt of your request to reproduce the Graphic illustration of innovation-decision process model from the following Open Access article

C. G Cegielski, D. Bourrie, D., and B. T. Hazen (2013) Evaluating adoption of emerging IT for corporate IT strategy: Developing a model using a qualitative method *Information Systems Management*, 30 (3): 235-249.

For use in your dissertation

Permission is granted for print and electronic use.

We will be pleased to grant you permission free of charge on the condition that:

This permission is for non-exclusive English world rights.

This permission does not cover any third party copyrighted work which may appear in the material requested.

Full acknowledgment must be included showing authors, year published, article title, and full Journal title, reprinted by permission Taylor & Francis LLC, (http://www.tandfonline.com).

Thank you very much for your interest in Taylor & Francis publications. Should you have any questions or require further assistance, please feel free to contact me directly.

Sincerely, XXXXXXXX Permissions Coordinator E-mail: XXXXXXXXX Telephone: XXXXXXXX

XXXX replied

Jun 5, 12:16

Hi Neville, and thanks for getting in touch.

You are welcome to quote and cite our articles in your dissertation. However, I should point out that we are a news organisation and so we have simply reported statistics originated by somebody else, in this case Mastercard. If you are being super-strict about copyright you may want to contact them.

I hope this helps, and good luck with the dissertation!

Best regards,

XXXX:)

XXXX XXXXX | SJB Research | XXXXXXXX NFC World - https://www.nfcworld.com SJB Research - https://www.sjb.co.uk